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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
TO THE MANAGEMENT OF DEUTSCHE BANK AG - SRI LANKA BRANCH

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Deutsche Bank AG - Sri Lanka Branch (“The Branch™), which
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the income statement,
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and, cash
flow statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of
the Branch as at 31 December 2022 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the period then
ended in accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Sri Lanka Auditing Standards (SLAuSs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Branch in accordance with the Code of Ethics
issued by CA Sri Lanka (Code of Ethics) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Branch ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Branch or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Branch financial reporting process.
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

QOur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with SLAuSs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with SLAuSs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

»

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Branch internal control.

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Branch ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Branch to cease to
continue as a going concern.

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

Report on other legal and requlatory requirements

As required by section 163 (2) of the Companies Act No. 07 of 2007, we have obtained all the information
and explanations that were required for the audit and, as far as appears from our examination, proper
accounting records have been kept by the Branch

"
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Colombo



Deutsche Bank AG - Colombo Branch

INCOME STATEMENT
Year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
Note Rs. Rs.

Gross income 6 8,362,701,968 3,881,565,149
Interest income 5,999,380,915 2,659,030,237
Interest expenses 495,718,721 355,057,789
Net interest income 7 5,503,662,194 2,303,972,448
Fee and commission income 639,405,529 487,629,342
Fee and commission expenses 57,444,642 40,351,771
Net fee and commission income 8 581,960,887 447.277,571
Net gain from trading 9 1,564,140,745 586,930,636
Net other operating income 10 159,774,779 147,974,934
Total operating income 7,809,538,605 3,486,155,589
Impairment (charge)/reversal 11 274,262,653 (128,515,824)
Net operating income 8,083,801,258 3,357,639,765
Operating expenses

Personnel expenses 12 659,134,464 463,679,060
Depreciation 25 119,017,430 79,349,619
Other expenses 13 1,487,038,575 1,477,240,379
Operating profit before Value Added Tax (VAT) on financial services 5,818,610,789 1,337,370,707
Value Added Tax (VAT) on financial services 938,815,337 210,968,217
Social Security Contribution Levy (SSCL) on financial services 75,297,374 -
Operating profit after Value Added Tax (VAT) on financial services 4,804,498,078 1,126,402,490
Income tax (reversal)/expense 14 1,400,731,758 240,194,388
Profit for the year 3.403,766.320 886.208.102

The accounting policies and notes to the financial statements appearing on page 08 to 86 form an integral part of these financial

statements.
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Deutsche Bank AG - Colombo Branch

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 December 2022

2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
Profit for the year 3,403,766,320 886,208,102
Items that will be reclassified to income statement
Net gams/(lc.)sse.s) on investments in debt instruments measured at fair value through other 4,284,125 (4,284,125)
comprehensive income
Impairment charge/(reversal) relating Sri Lanka Development Bonds (Note 24.3.) -
Less: Tax expense relating to itemns that will be reclassified to income statement (Note 14.2) (1,285,238) 1,028,190
2,998,887 (3,255,935)
Items that will not be reclassified to income statement
(Loss)/ Gains on translating the Financial Statements of FCBU 2,375,309,489 290,965,096
Change in fair value on investments in equity instruments designated at fair value through other i .
comprehensive income
Related tax (Note 14.2) - -
Re-measurement of post-employment benefit obligations (Note 32.2) (5,077,545) 3,563,507
Related tax (Note 14.2) 1,523,263 (855,242)
2,371,755,207 293,673,361
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of taxes 2,374,754,094 290,417,426
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of taxes 5,778,520,414 1,176,625,528

The accounting policies and notes to the financial statements appearing on page 08 to 86 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Deutsche Bank AG - Colombo Branch

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As at 31 December 2022

2022 2021

Note Rs. Rs.
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 15 13,452,453,241 156,557,638
Balances with Central Bank 16 17,868,618,357 5,903,034,494
Placements with banks 17 - 7,995,600,658
Placements with branches 18 6,101,049,045 5,978,294,374
Derivative financial instruments 19 48,544,177 2,436,665
Group balances receivables 20 1,195,941,366 2,733,485,164
Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL) 21 - -
Financial assets at amortized cost - Loans and advances to customers 22 26,839,735,777 27,247,307,757
Financial assets at amortized cost - Debt and other instruments 23 7,547,678,250 3,830,911,957
Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 2 42,338,984 1,123,699,484
(FVOCI)
Property, plant and equipment 25 699,867,557 76,371,365
Deferred tax assets 26 41,246,170 104,749,790
Other assets 27 1,565,167,784 1,024,527,544
Total assets 75,402,640,708 56,176,976,890
Liabilities
Due to Banks 28 3,013,133 1,088,297
Due to branches 29 8,044,569,488 11,902,146,722
Derivative financial instruments 30 90,365,580 2,456,987
Financial liabilities at amortized cost - Due to depositors 31 38,856,513,092 24,386,640,445
Employee Benefit 32 73,686,048 68,143,907
Current tax liabilities 33 1,259,992,310 209,403,509
Other liabilities 34 2,059,748,307 361,615,489
Group Balance Payable 35 774,770,468 3,303,331,412
Total liabilities 51,162,658.,426 40,234,826,768
Equity
Assigned capital 36 4,410,461,270 4,410,461,270
Statutory reserve fund 37 963,822,846 793,634,530
Retained earnings 38 6,419,206,283 4,026,214,491
Other reserves 39 12,446,491,883 6,711,839,831
Total shareholders’ equity 24,239,982,282 15,942,150,122
Total equity and liabilities 75,402,640,708 56.176,976,890
Contingent liabilities and commitments 40 89,321,906,175 45,651,093,160

These fnancial statements have been prepared in compliance with requirements of the Companies Act No.7 of 2007,

The Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation of these Financial Statements.
Apprpved and signed for and on behalf of the Branch Management Board:

/ T _.--j‘
/ = . _.,:4'—/

ST

Nirdnj4n Figurado / mm 1a Sanjeewanie
Chietountry Officer “"Head of Finance

The accounting policies and notes to the financial statements appearing on page 08 to 86 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Deutsche Bank AG - Colombo Branch

STATEMENT CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2022

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

Profit before taxation

Adjustment for:

Non-cash items included in profits before tax

Change in operating assets

Change in operating liabilities

Dividend income

Net unrealised gain/(loss) from translation of Financial statements of Foreign
Operation

Cash generated from operating activities

Contribution paid to defined benefit plans
Income tax paid
Net cash generated from operating activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment

Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment
Dividend received from investment

Net cash used in investing activities

Profit transfer to head office
Net cash used in financing activities

Net decrease in Cash & Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the year

Cash and Cash Equivalents at the end of the year

Note

46
47
48

15

2022
Rs.

4,804,498,078

2021
Rs.

1,126,402,490

971,836,391 1,081,568,466
(5,304,465,773) 6,973,106,407
12,077,242,433 (9,632,231,532)

(3,517,500) (4,318,500)
2,375,309,489 290,965,096
14,920,903,118 (164,507,575)

(12,071,111) (19,890,666)

(303,608,364) (293,584,807)
14,605,223,643 (477,983,048)
(744,464,087) (33,563,333)
3,322,334 :
3,517,500 4,318,500

(737,624,253) (29,244,833)

(571,703,787) %

(571,703,787) E
13,295,895,603 (507,227,881)

156,557,638 663,785,519

13,452,453,241

156,557,638

The accounting policies and notes to the financial statements appearing on page 08 to 86 form an integral part of these financial

statements.
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Deutsche Bank AG — Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.4

1.5

REPORTING ENTITY

Reporting entity

Deutsche Bank AG (“Group”) is a public quoted company incorporated in Germany with limited liability, which
carries out banking activities in Sri Lanka through Deutsche Bank AG, Colombo Branch (“Branch”). The

registered office of Deutsche Bank AG, Colombo Branch and the principal place of business are both located at
Level 21, One Galle Face Tower, 1A Centre Road, Colombo 02.

Principal activities
The principal activities of the Branch continue to be banking and related activities such as accepting deposits,

corporate banking, offshore banking, foreign currency operations, trade services, Trust & Domestic Custody
services, Investment Banking etc.

Number of employees

The permanent staff strength of the Branch as at 31 December 2022 is 59 (2021 — 61 permanent staff).

Management Responsibility on Financial Statements

The Management of the Branch is responsible for preparing and presenting these financial statements in
accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards and with the requirements of the Banking Act No. 30 of 1988
and amendments thereto.

Approval of Financial Statements by the Management

These Financial Statements were authorized for issue by the Management on 21 March 2023,

Q_\,&wﬁ)ﬂ A
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Deutsche Bank AG — Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

21

2.2

2.3

BASIS OF PREPARATION
Statement of compliance

The financial statements of the Branch have been prepared in accordance with Sri Lanka Accounting Standards
(LKAS) prefixed both SLFRS and LKAS, promulgated by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka
(ICASL) and comply with the requirements of the Banking Act No 30. of 1988 and amendments thereto.

These Financial Statements include the following components:

e an Income Statement and Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income providing
the information on the financial performance of the Branch for the year ;

e a Statement of Financial Position providing the information on the financial position of the Branch as at
the year-end ;
a Statement of Changes in Equity depicting all changes in shareholders’ funds during the year;

e aStatement of Cash Flows providing the information to the users, on the ability of the Branch to generate
cash and cash equivalents and the needs of entities to utilize those cash flows;

e  Notes to the Financial Statements comprising Accounting Policies and other explanatory information.

Going concern assessment of the Branch

The management has made an assessment of its ability to continue as a going concern and is satisfied that it
has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. In this assessment the management has
considered the potential impact that market and country precent economic condition could bring to business
operations of the Branch.

Furthermore, the Management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon
the Branch’s ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements of the Branch continue
to be prepared on a going concern.

Functional and presentation currency

These financial statements are presented in Sri Lankan Rupees (LKR), which is the Branch’s functional
currency.

There was no change in the Branch’s presentation and functional currency during the year under review.

Basis of measurement

The Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following material
items in the statement of financial position:

Item Basis of Measurement Note Page
Financial assets measured at fair value | Fair Value 33.1.1.5 15
through profit or loss
Derivative assets and derivative | Fair Value 33115 & |15&22
liabilities held for risk management 33322
Financial Assets measured at fair | Fair Value 33.1.14 15
value through other comprehensive
income
Non-financial assets/liabilities
Employee benefits Present value of the defined | 3.7.3 29
benefit pension obligation less
the net total of the pension
assets
A\ccountants -9-

\ J
\_\ - T~ /.-

~LoLomeO



Deutsche Bank AG — Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

24

2.5

2.6

2.7

2.8

The Branch maintains separate books for Domestic Banking Unit (DBU) and Foreign Currency Banking Unit
(FCBU). Accompanying financial statements have been prepared by amalgamating the financial statements of
the Domestic Banking Unit and Foreign Currency Banking Unit.

Basis of amalgamation

The Branch’s Financial Statements comprise the amalgamation of the Financial Statements of the Domestic
Banking Unit (DBU) and the Off-Shore Banking Unit (FCBU). Both units have a common financial year
which ends on December 31.

Presentation of Financial Statements

The assets and liabilities of the Branch presented in the Statement of Financial Position are grouped by nature
and listed in an order that reflects their relative liquidity and maturity pattern.

No adjustments have been made for inflationary factors affecting the Financial Statements.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of Financial
Position only when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. Income and expenses
are not offset in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income unless required or permitted
by an Accounting Standard or interpretation, and as specifically disclosed in the Accounting Policies of the
Branch.

Materiality and Aggregation

Each material class of similar items is presented separately in the financial statements. Items of dissimilar
nature or function are presented separately unless they are immaterial as permitted by Sri Lanka Accounting
Standard —~ LKAS 1 on ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’.

Comparative Information

The comparative information is reclassified wherever necessary to confirm with the current year’s presentation
in order to provide better presentation.

Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with LKAS/SLFRS requires management to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies and the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the
balance sheet date. Judgments and estimates are based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates
are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

o .
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Deutsche Bank AG — Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

2.8.1

2.8.2

2.9

2.10

Judgments

Information about judgments made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effects on
the amounts recognized in the financial statements, is included in the following notes.

- Note 3.3.1.2 classification of financial assets: assessment of the business model within which the assets
are held and assessment of whether the contractual terms of the financial assets are Solely Payment of
Principal and Interest (SPPI) on the principal amount outstanding

- Note 3.3.2.1 establishing the criteria for determining whether credit risk on the financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition, determining methodology for incorporating forward-

looking information into measurement of Expected Credit Loss (ECL) and selection and approval models
used to measure ECL

- Going Concern: the Management has made an assessment of the Branch’s ability to continue as a going
concern and are satisfied that it has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future

Assumptions and estimation uncertainties

Information about assumptions and estimation certainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a material
adjustment included in the following notes:

Note 3.3.2 : impairment of financial instruments: determining inputs into the ECL measurement model,
including incorporation of forward looking information.

Note 3.3.4  : determination of the fair value of financial instruments with significant unobservable inputs,
Note 3.7.3  : measurement of defined benefit obligations: key actuarial assumptions.

Note 3.2.1.b : recognition of deferred tax assets: availability of future taxable profit against which carry
forward tax losses can be utilized.

Note 3.8 : recognition and measurement of contingencies: key assumptions about the likelihood and
magnitude of an outflow of resources.

Off-setting

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under Sri Lanka Accounting Standards
(SLFRSs/LKASsS), or for gains and losses arising from a FCBU of similar transactions such as in the FCBU’s
trading activity.

Changes in Accounting Policies

The Branch has consistently applied the accounting policies as set out in Notes 3 on pages 12 to 34 to all
periods presented in these financial statements
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Deutsche Bank AG — Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

3.1

3.1.1

3.2

3.21

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Branch has consistently applied the accounting policies set out below to all period presented in these
Financial Statements.

Foreign currency transactions
Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of the Branch at
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date.
Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are
retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined.
Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognized in profit or loss, Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date
of the transaction.

Translation of Measurement Currency

The Branch uses Sri Lankan Rupees as their measurement currency for Domestic Banking Unit and United
State Dollars as their measurement currency for Foreign Currency Banking Unit books.

For amalgamation purposes accompanying Financial Statements have been prepared in Sri Lankan Rupees
after converting the Foreign Currency Banking Unit financial statements into Sri Lankan Rupees.

The translation is performed based on the guidelines in LKAS 21 “The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange
Rates” stated below:

s All assets and liabilities (i.e. including comparatives) are translated at the closing rate of each
reporting date

o Income and expense items for all periods (i.e. including comparatives) are translated at average
exchange rates pertaining to each period

o Equity items other than the net profit or loss for the period are translated at the historical rate existing

at the date of each transaction

All exchange differences resulting from translation in accordance with the above are recognized in Other
Comprehensive Income.

Taxation
Income Tax Expenses

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. It is recognized in profit or loss except to the extent
that it relates to items recognized directly in equity or in other comprehensive income.

Penalties related to income taxes, including uncertain tax treatments, are accounted for under LKAS 37
Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets.
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Deutsche Bank AG — Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

a) Current Taxation

Current tax comprises the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year and
any adjustment to the tax payable or receivable with respect of previous years. The amount of current tax
payable or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects
uncertainty related to income taxes, if any. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at
the reporting date.

According to Inland Revenue Act, provision for taxation is made on the basis on the accounting profit for the
year as adjusted for taxation purpose in accordance with the provision of the applicable Inland Revenue Act.
In estimating tax computation, the Branch had applied the provisions Inland Revenue Act No. 45 of 2022 and
the amendments thereto.

- Corporate Income Tax rate was 24% for the first six months of the year.
- Corporate Income Tax rate was revised to 30% for the second six months of the year.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if certain criteria are met.
b) Deferred Taxation

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method, providing for temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes.
The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realization or settlement of the
carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting date.

A deferred tax asset is recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the future asset can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reduced to an extent that is no
longer probable, that the related tax benefit will be realized.

3.2.2 Other taxes

a)

Crop Insurance Levy (CIL)

As per the provision of section 14 of the finance Act No.12 of 2013, the CIL was introduced with effect from
April 01, 2013 and is payable to the Nation Insurance Trust Fund. Currently, the CIL is payable at 1% of the
profit after tax.

b) Value Added Tax on Financial Services (VAT)

)

The value base for the computation of value added tax on financial services is calculated by adjusting the
depreciation computed on rates prescribed by Department of Inland Revenue to the accounting profit before
Income tax and emoluments payable. Emoluments payable include benefits in money, and not in money
including contribution or provision relating to terminal benefits.

Social Security Contribution Levy on Financial Services (SSCL)

With effect from 1 October 2022, SSCL of 2.5% was introduced on the value addition attributable to the supply
of financial services through the Social Security Contribution Levy Act, No. 25 of 2022. SSCL is chargeable
on the same base used for calculation of VAT on financial services before deducting the VAT and SSCL on
financial services.
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Deutsche Bank AG — Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

ASSETS AND BASES OF THEIR VALUATION

3.3

3.3.1

3.3.1.1

3.3.1.2

Financial Instruments - Classification, Initial Recognition and Subsequent Measurement
Financial Assets and Liabilities

Financial assets
Recognition and measurement

The financial asset is measured initially at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction cost that are directly attributable to its acquisition. Loans and advances are initially recognized
on the date at which they are originated at fair value which is usually the loan amount granted, and subsequent
measurement is at amortized cost.

The amortized cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial
recoguition minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization using the effective
interest method of any difference between the initial amount recognized and the maturity amount, minus any
reduction for impairment.

All other financial assets are initially recognized on the trade date at which the Branch becomes a party to
the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Classification

Branch classifies financial assets in line with the classification and measurement requirements of SLFRS 9,
where financial assets are classified based on both the business model used for managing the financial assets
and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset (known as Solely Payments of Principal
and Interest or “SPPI”). There are three business models available:

- Hold to Collect - Financial assets held with the objective to collect contractual cash flows. They are
subsequently measured at amortized cost and are recorded in multiple lines on the Branch’s balance
sheet.

- Hold to Collect and Sell - Financial assets held with the objective of both collecting contractual cash
flows and selling financial assets. They are recorded as Financial assets at Fair Value through Other
Comprehensive Income on the Branch’s balance sheet.

Other - Financial assets that do not meet the criteria of either “Hold to Collect” or “Hold to Collect
and Sell”. They are recorded as Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss on the Branch’s
balance sheet

The assessment of business model requires judgment based on facts and circumstances upon initial
recognition. As part of this assessment, the Branch considers quantitative factors (e.g., the expected
frequency and volume of sales) and qualitative factors such as how the performance of the business model
and the financial assets held within that business model are evaluated and reported to the Branch’s key
management personnel. In addition to taking into consideration the risks that affect the performance of the
business model and the financial assets held within that business model, in particular, the way in which
those market and credit risks are managed; and how managers of the business are compensated (e.g.,
whether the compensation is based on the fair value of the assets managed or on the contractual cash flows
collected). This assessment results in an asset being classified in either a Hold to Collect, Hold to Collect
and Sell or Other business model.
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Deutsche Bank AG — Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

3.3.1.3

3.3.14

3.3.1.5

If the Branch holds a financial asset either in a Hold to Collect or a Hold to Collect and Sell business model,
then an assessment at initial recognition to determine whether the contractual cash flows of the financial
asset are Solely Payments of Principal and Interest on the principal amount outstanding at initial recognition
is required to determine the business model classification. Contractual cash flows, that are SPPI on the
principal amount outstanding, are consistent with a basic lending arrangement. Interest in a basic lending
arrangement is consideration for the time value of money and the credit risk associated with the principal
amount outstanding during a particular period of time. It can also include consideration for other basic
lending risks (e.g., liquidity risk) and costs (e.g., administrative costs) associated with holding the financial
asset for a particular period of time, and a profit margin that is consistent with a basic lending arrangement.

Financial assets measured at amortized costs

A financial asset is classified and subsequently measured at amortized cost if the financial asset is held in
a Hold to Collect business model and the contractual cash flows are SPPI. Under this measurement
category, the financial asset is measured at fair value at initial recognition. Subsequently the carrying
amount is reduced for principal payments, plus or minus the cumulative amortization using the effective
interest method. The financial asset is assessed for impairment under the SLFRS 9 expected credit loss
model, where provisions are recognized based on expectations of potential credit losses. Financial assets
measured at amortized cost are recognized on a settlement date basis.

Financial Assets at Amortized Cost include predominately Loans at amortized cost, Central bank funds,
Debt securities and certain receivables presented in Other Assets.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income

A financial asset shall be classified and measured at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income
(“FVOCI”), if the financial asset is held in a Hold to Collect and Sell business model and the contractual
cash flows are SPPI, unless designated under the fair value option.

Under FVOCI, a financial asset is measured at its fair value with any changes being recognized in Other
Comprehensive Income ("OCI”), and is assessed for impairment under the SLFRS 9 expected credit loss
model where provisions recorded through profit or loss are recognized based on expectations of potential
credit losses.. The amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts are recorded in net interest income.
Realized gains and losses are reported in net gains (losses) on financial assets at FVOCI. Generally, the
weighted-average cost method is used to determine the cost of FVOCI financial assets.

Financial assets classified as FVOCI are recognized or derecognized on trade date. Trade date is the date
on which the Branch commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets are classified at fair value through profit or loss if they are held in the other business model
because they are either held for trading or because they do not meet the criteria for Hold to Collect or Hold
to Collect and Sell. In addition, it includes financial assets that meet the criteria for Hold to Collect or Hold
to Collect and Sell business model, but the financial asset fails SPPI, or where the Branch designated the
financial assets under the fair value option.

Financial assets classified as Financial Assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at fair value,
with realized and unrealized gains and losses included in Net gains (losses) on financial assets/liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss. Interest on interest earning assets such as trading loans and debt securities
and dividends on equity instruments, are presented in Interest and Similar Income.

Financial assets classified at fair value through profit or loss are recognized or derecognized on trade date.
Trade date-is-the date on which the Branch commits to purchase or sell the asset.
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Deutsche Bank AG — Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

3.3.1.6

3.3.1.7

3.3.1.8
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Trading assets — Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they have been originated, acquired or
incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing them in the near term, or they form part of a
portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a
recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking. Trading assets include debt securities and derivatives held
for trading purposes.

Business model assessment

The Branch makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a portfolio
level, because this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to the
Management. The information considered includes:

- how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Branch’s Management;

- the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that
business model) and how those risks are managed,;

- how managers of the business are compensated — e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value
of the assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected; and

- The frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its
expectations about future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not considered in
isolation, but as part of an overall assessment of how the Branch’s stated objective for managing the
financial assets is achieved, and how cash flows are realized.

For the purposes of this assessment, “principal” is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial
recognition. “Interest” is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk
associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic
lending risks and costs, as well as profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the Branch
considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset
contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows, such that it
would not meet this condition.

In making the assessment, the Branch considers:

- contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;
- leverage features;

- prepayment and extension terms;

- terms that limit the Branch’s claim to cash flows from

- specified assets; and

- Features that modify consideration of the time value of money.

Reclassification

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition, except in those rare circumstances
when the Branch changes its objective of the business model for managing such financial assets. Financial
Liabilities are not reclassified as such reclassifications are not permitted by SLFRS 9.

De-recognition of financial assets

Financial assets are derecognized when the contractual right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired,
or when Branch has transferred its contractual right to receive the cash flows of the financial assets, and
either;

- Substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred; or
ch has neither retained nor transferred substantially all the risks and rewards, but has
ined control of the financial asset.
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Deutsche Bank AG — Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

3.3.1.9

3.3.1.10

3.3.1.11

3.3.1.12

Modifications of financial assets

When the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified and the modification does not result in de-
recognition, a gain or loss is recognized in the income statement as the difference between the original
contractual cash flows and the modified cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate. The
modified financial asset will continue to accrue interest at its original EIR. When a modification results in
derecognition the original instrument is derecognized and the new instrument recognized at fair value.

Non credit related or commercial renegotiations where an obligor has not experienced a significant increase
in credit risk since origination, and has a readily exercisable right to early terminate the financial asset results
in derecognition of the original agreement and recognition of a new financial asset based on the newly
negotiated commercial terms.

For credit related modifications (i.e., modifications due to significant increase in credit risk since inception)
or those where the obligor does not have the readily exercisable right to early terminate, the Branch assesses
whether the modified terms result in the financial asset being significantly modified and therefore
derecognized. This assessment includes a quantitative assessment of the impact of the change in cash flows
from the modification of contractual terms, and additionally where necessary, a qualitative assessment of
the impact of the change in the contractual terms. Where these modifications are not concluded to be
significant, the financial asset is not derecognized and is accounted for as a modification as described above.

If the changes are concluded to be significant, the old instrument is derecognized and a new instrument
recognized. Where a modification results in a new financial asset being recognized, the date of the
modification is the date of initial recognition of the new financial asset. The Branch then recognizes a credit
loss allowance based on 12-month expected credit losses at each reporting date.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include notes and coins in hand, unrestricted balances held with the Central Banks
of Sri Lanka and highly liquid financial assets with maturities of three months or less from the acquisition
date, that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are used by the Branch in the
management of its short-term commitments.

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortized cost in the statement of financial position.

Statutory deposits with Central Bank

The Monetary Law Act requires all commercial banks operating in Sri Lanka to maintain reserves against
all deposit liabilities denominated in Sri Lankan Rupees. The details of reserve requirements are given in
Note 16 to the Financial Statements.

Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortized cost in the statement of financial position.

Derivatives

Derivatives are used to manage exposures to interest rate, foreign currency, credit and other market price
risks, including exposures arising from forecast transactions. All freestanding contracts that are considered
derivatives for accounting purposes, are carried at fair value on the statement of financial position regardless
of whether they are held for trading or non-trading purposes.

Changes in fair value on derivatives held for trading are included in net gains/ (losses) from financial

instruments at fair value through profit or loss on financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss.
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Deutsche Bank AG — Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

3.3.2

3.3.21

Identification and measurement of impairment
Recognition of impairment of financial assets

The determination of impairment losses an expected credit loss (“ECL”) model under SLFRS 9, where
allowances are taken upon initial recognition of the Financial Asset, based on expectations of potential credit
losses at the time of initial recognition.

Staged approach to the determination of expected credit losses

SLFRS 9 introduces a three-stage approach to impairment for Financial Assets that are not credit impaired
at the date of origination or purchase. This approach is summarized as follows:

— Stage 1: The Branch recognizes a credit loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit
losses. This represents the portion of lifetime expected credit losses from default events that are expected
within 12 months of the reporting date, assuming that credit risk has not increased significantly after initial
recognition.

— Stage 2: The Branch recognizes a credit loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit
losses for those Financial Assets which are considered to have experienced a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. This requires the computation of ECL based on lifetime probability of default,
lifetime loss given default and lifetime exposure at default that represents the probability of default occurring
over the remaining lifetime of the Financial Asset. Allowance for credit losses are higher in this stage
because of an increase in credit risk and the impact of a longer time horizon being considered compared to
12 months in Stage 1.

— Stage 3: The Branch recognizes a loss allowance at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses,
reflecting a Probability of Default of 100 %, via the expected recoverable cash flows for the asset, for those
Financial Assets that are credit-impaired. The Branch’s definition of default is aligned with the regulatory
definition. Financial Assets that are credit impaired upon initial recognition are categorized within Stage 3
with a carrying value already reflecting the lifetime expected credit losses. The accounting treatment for
these purchased or originated credit-impaired (“POCI”) assets is discussed further below.

Forward Looking Information

Forward Looking Information is incorporated into the measurement of the Branch Allowance for Credit
Losses in terms of adjustments to multi-year PD curves based on macro-economic forecasts. The
identification of key macro-economic variables (MEVs) reflects a balance of quantitative and qualitative
judgements. Statistical analysis, including e.g. back-testing and model sensitivities, are performed to assess
the explanatory power of MEVs, while expert input from credit officers ensures business intuition for the
overall model behaviour. The final model parameterization is based on a review & challenge of impacts in
internal governance forums and an independent validation performed by the Model Risk Management
function. Furthermore, conceptual soundness of the estimation approach is ensured by model testing analysis
prepared as part of model changes and an ongoing monitoring framework in order for the ECL provision to
reflect management’s best estimate in the calculation of expected credit losses.

Significant increase in credit risk

Under SLFRS 9, when determining whether the credit risk (i.e., risk of default) of a Financial Asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Branch considers reasonable and supportable
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes quantitative and
qualitative information based on the Branch’s historical experience, credit risk assessment and forward-
looking information (including macro-economic factors). The assessment of significant credit deterioration
is key in determining when to move from measuring an allowance based on 12-month ECLs to one that is
based on lifetime ECLs (i.e., transfer from Stage 1 to Stage 2).
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Deutsche Bank AG — Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

The Branch’s framework for determining if there has been a significant increase in credit risk, aligns with
the internal Credit Risk Management (“CRM”) process and covers rating related and process related
indicators.

Credit impaired financial assets in Stage 3

The Branch has aligned its definition of credit impaired under SLFRS 9 to when a Financial Asset has
defaulted for regulatory purposes. However, the Branch does not have any Assets coming under Stage 3
catcgory.

The determination of whether a Financial Asset is credit impaired and therefore in Stage 3 focuses
exclusively on default risk, without taking into consideration the effects of credit risk mitigate such as
collateral or guarantees. Specifically, a Financial Asset is credit impaired and in Stage 3 when:

- The Branch considers the obligor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Branch. Determination
may include forbearance actions, where a concession has been granted to the borrower or economic or
legal reasons that are qualitative indicators of credit impairment; or

- Contractual payments of either principal or interest by the obligor are past due by more than 90 days.

For Financial Assets considered to be credit impaired, the ECL allowance covers the amount of loss the
Branch is expected to suffer. The estimation of ECLs is done on a case-by-case basis for non-homogeneous
portfolios, or by applying portfolio based parameters to individual Financial Assets in these portfolios via
the Branch’s ECL model for homogeneous portfolios. This estimate includes the use of discounted cash
flows that are adjusted for scenarios.

Forecasts of future economic conditions when calculating ECLs are considered. The lifetime expected losses
are estimated based on the probability-weighted present value of the difference between the contractual cash
flows that are due to the Branch under the contract; and the cash flows that the Branch expects to receive.
A Financial Asset can be classified as credit impaired in Stage 3 but without an allowance for credit losses
(i.e., no impairment loss is expected). This may be due to the value of collateral. The Branch’s engine based
ECL calculation is conducted on a monthly basis, whereas the case-by-case assessment of ECL in Stage 3
for non-homogeneous portfolio has to be performed at least on a quarterly basis.

Purchased or originated credit impaired financial assets in Stage 3

A Financial Asset is considered purchased or originated credit-impaired if there is objective evidence of
impairment at the time of initial recognition. Such credit impaired Financial Assets are termed POCI
Financial Assets. POCI Financial Assets are measured to reflect lifetime expected credit losses, and all
subsequent changes in lifetime expected credit losses, whether positive or negative, are recognized in the
income statement as a component of the provision for credit losses. POCI Financial Assets can only be
classified in Stage 3 over the life of the Financial Asset.

Collateral for financial assets considered in the impairment analysis

SLFRS 9 requires cash flows expected from collateral and other credit enhancement to be reflected in the
ECL calculation. The following are key aspects with respect to collateral and guarantees:

—  Eligibility of collateral, i.e. which collateral should be considered in the ECL calculation;
—  Collateral evaluation, i.e. what collateral (liquidation) value should be used; and
—  Projection of the available collateral amount over the life of a transaction.

The Branch recognizes loss allowances for Expected Credit Losses (ECL) on the following financial
instruments that are not measured at FVTPL:

|
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Deutsche Bank AG — Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

No impairment loss is recognized on equity investments.

12-month ECL & Life time ECL are the portion of ECL that result from default events on a financial instrument
that are possible within the 12 months after the reporting date.

The Branch recognizes loss allowance using Expected Credit Losses (ECL) on loans and receivables to
customers and other financial assets measured at amortized cost model using dual measurement approach in
which the loss allowance is measured as either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit
losses. 12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from default events on a financial instrument that are
possible within the 12 months after the reporting date. Financial instruments for which a 12-month ECL is
recognized are referred to as “stage 1 Financial Instruments”.

Life-time ECL are the ECL that result from all possible default events over the expected life of the financial
instrument. Financial instruments for which a life-time ECL is recognized but which are not credit-impaired
are referred to as “stage 2 Financial Instruments”, and credit impaired are referred to as “stage 3 Financial
Instruments.

Measurement of impairment of financial assets
ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. They are measured as follows:

- Financial assets that are not credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the present value of all cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance with the contract
and the cash flows that the Branch expects to receive);

- Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date: as the difference between the gross
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows;

- Undrawn loan commitments: as the present value of the difference between the contractual cash
flows that are due to the Branch if the commitment is drawn down and the cash flows that the Branch
expects to receive; and

- Financial guarantee contracts: the expected payments to reimburse the holder less any amounts that
the Branch expects to recover.

Collective assessment:

This includes all loans and advances of smaller value where there is no evidence of impairment and those
individually assessed for which no evidence of impairment has been specifically identified on an individual
basis.

These loans and advances are grouped together as per Basel Guidelines and product level according to their
credit risk characteristics for the purpose of calculating an estimated collective impairment.

- In making an assessment of whether an investment in debt instrument is credit-impaired, the Branch
considers the following factors:

- The market’s assessment of creditworthiness as reflected in the bond yields.

- The rating agencies’ assessments of creditworthiness.

- The country’s ability to access the capital markets for new debt issuance.

- The probability of debt being restructured, resulting in holders suffering losses through voluntary or
mandatory debt forgiveness.

- The international support mechanisms in place to provide the necessary support as “lender of last resort”
to that country, as well as the intention, reflected in public statements, of governments and agencies to
use those mechanisms. This includes an assessment of the depth of those mechanisms and, irrespective
of the political intent, whether there is the capacity to fulfil the required criteria.
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Deutsche Bank AG — Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

3.3.2.2

3.3.2.3

Restructured financial assets

If the terms of a financial asset are renegotiated or modified or an existing financial asset is replaced with a
new one due to financial difficulties of the borrower, then an assessment is made on whether the financial asset
should be derecognized. ECL is measured as follows:

- If the expected restructuring will not result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected cash
flows arising from the modified financial asset are included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the
existing asset.

- If the expected restructuring will result in derecognition of the existing asset, then the expected fair value
of the new asset is treated as the final cash flow from the existing financial asset, at the time of its
derecognition. This amount is included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing financial asset
that are discounted from the expected date of derecognition, to the reporting date using the original
effective interest rate of the existing financial asset.

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position

Loss allowances for ECL are presented in the statement of financial position as follows:

- Financial assets measured at amortized cost: as a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the assets;

- Loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts: generally, as a provision;

- Where a financial instrument includes both a drawn and an undrawn component, and the Branch cannot
identify the ECL on the loan commitment component separately from those on the drawn component: the
Branch presents a combined loss allowance for both components. The combined amount is presented as
a deduction from the gross carrying amount of the drawn component. Any excess of the loss allowance
over the gross amount of the drawn component is presented as a provision; and

- Debt instruments measured at FVOCI: no loss allowance is recognized in the statement of financial
position because the carrying amount of these assets is their fair value. However, the loss allowance is
disclosed and is recognized in the fair value reserve.

Write-off of financial assets

The Branch reduces the gross carrying amount of a Financial Asset when there is no reasonable expectation
of recovery.

Write-offs can relate to a Financial Asset in its entirety, or to a portion of it, and constitute a derecognition

event. The Branch considers all relevant information in making this determination, including but not limited

to:

- Foreclosure actions taken by the Branch which have not been successful or have a high probability of
not being successful

- Collateral liquidation which has not, or will not lead to further considerable recoveries

- Situations where no further recoveries are reasonably expected

Write-offs can take place before legal actions against the borrower to recover the debt have been concluded,

and a write-off does not involve the Branch forfeiting its legal right to recover the debt.

The Branch makes use of the ECL methodology and related risk models computation algorithms developed
by DB Group to account for the ECL provision in the Branch’s financials.
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Deutsche Bank AG — Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

3.3.3

3.3.3.1

3.3.3.2

3.3.3.2.1

3.3.3.2.2

Financial liabilities
Recognition and measurement of financial liabilities

On initial recognition, the Branch classifies financial liabilities, other than financial guarantees and loan
commitments, into one of the following categories:

- Financial liabilities at amortized cost; and
-  Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial liabilities

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification.

Financial liabilities at amortized cost

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost include long-term and short-term debt issued, which are
initially measured at fair value, which is the consideration received, net of transaction costs incurred.
Repurchases of issued debt in the market are treated as extinguishments and any related gain or loss is
recorded in the Income Statement. A subsequent sale of own bonds in the market is treated as a reissuance
of debt. Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost are recognized on a settlement date basis.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include Trading Liabilities, Financial Liabilities
Designated at Fair Value through Profit or Loss and Non-Participating Investment Contracts (“Investment
Contracts™). They are carried at fair value with realized and unrealized gains and losses included in net gains
(losses) on financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. However under SLFRS 9, for
financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss, the fair value movements attributable to
the Branch’s own credit component for fair value movements is recognized in Other Comprehensive Income
rather than in the Statement of Income.

Financial liabilities classified at fair value through profit or loss are recognized or derecognized on trade
date. Trade date is the date on which the Branch commits to issue or repurchase the financial liability.

Interest on interest paying liabilities are presented in interest expense for financial instruments at fair value
through profit or loss.

Trading Liabilities - Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they have been originated or
incurred principally for the purpose of repurchasing them in the near term. Trading liabilities consist
primarily of derivative liabilities (including certain loan commitments) and short positions. This also includes
loan commitments that are allocated to the other business model and that are classified as derivatives held
for trading.

Financial Liabilities Designated at Fair Value through Profit or Loss - Certain financial liabilities that do
not meet the definition of trading liabilities are designated at fair value through profit or loss using the fair
value option. To be designated at fair value through profit or loss, financial liabilities must meet one of the
following criteria: (1) the designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition
inconsistency; (2) a group of financial liabilities is managed and its performance is evaluated on a fair value
basis in accordance with a documented risk management or investment strategy; or (3) the instrument
contains one or more embedded derivatives unless: (a) the embedded derivative does not significantly modify
the cash flows that otherwise would be required by the contract; or (b) it is clear with little or no analysis that
separation is prohibited.
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3.3.4
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Deposits
Deposits are the Branch’s sources of debt funding.

Deposits include non-interest-bearing deposits, savings deposits, term deposits and deposits redeemable at
call. Borrowings include repurchase borrowings, call and time deposits, Vostro balances and borrowings
from financial institutions.

Subsequent to initial recognition deposits are measured at their amortized cost using the effective interest
method, except where the Branch designates liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

De-recognition of Financial Liabilities

Branch derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expired.

Determination of Fair Value

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset, or paid to transfer a liability in an
arm’s length transaction (orderly transaction) between market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value of instruments that are quoted in active markets is determined using the quoted prices where they
represent those at which regularly and recently occurring transactions take place. The Branch measures
certain portfolios of financial assets and financial liabilities on the basis of their net risk exposures, when the
following criteria are met:

—  the group of financial assets and liabilities is managed on the basis of its net exposure to a particular
market risk (or risks) or to the credit risk of a particular counterparty, in accordance with a documented
risk management strategy,

—  the fair values are provided to key management personnel, and

— the financial assets and liabilities are measured at fair value through profit or loss.

This portfolio valuation approach is consistent with how the Branch manages its net exposures to market and
counterparty credit risks.

Critical Accounting Estimates — The Branch uses valuation techniques to establish the fair value of
instruments where prices quoted in active markets are not available. Therefore, where possible, parameter
inputs to the valuation techniques are based on observable data derived from prices of relevant instruments
traded in an active market. These valuation techniques involve some level of management estimation and
judgment, the degree of which will depend on the price transparency for the instrument or market and the
instrument’s complexity.

In reaching estimates of:fair value, management judgment needs to be exercised. The areas requiring
significant management judgment are identified, documented and reported to senior management. The
specialist model validation and valuation control groups focus attention on the areas of subjectivity and
judgment.

The level of management judgment required in establishing fair value of financial instruments for which
there is a quoted price in an active market, is usually minimal. Similarly there is little subjectivity or judgment
required for instruments valued using valuation models which are standard across the industry and where all
parameter inputs are quoted in active markets.
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3.3.5

The level of subjectivity and degree of management judgment required is more significant for those
instruments valued using specialized and sophisticated models, and where some or all of the parameter inputs
are less liquid or less observable. Management judgment is required in the selection and application of
appropriate parameters, assumptions and modelling techniques. In particular, where data are obtained from
infrequent market transactions, extrapolation and interpolation techniques must be applied. Where no market
data are available for a particular instrument, pricing inputs are determined by assessing other relevant sources
of information such as historical data, fundamental analysis of the economics of the transaction and proxy
information from similar transactions, and making appropriate adjustment to reflect the actual instrument being
valued and current market conditions. Where different valuation techniques indicate a range of possible fair
values for an instrument, management has to decide what point within the range of estimates appropriately
represents the fair value. Further, some valuation adjustments may require the exercise of management
judgment to achieve fair value.

Under SLFRS, the financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value are required to be disclosed according to
the inputs to the valuation method that are used to determine their fair value. Specifically, segmentation is
required between those valued using quoted market prices in an active market (level 1), valuation techniques
based on observable parameters (level 2) and valuation techniques using significant unobservable parameters
(level 3). Management judgment is required in determining the category to which certain instruments should
be allocated. This specifically arises when the valuation is determined by a number of parameters, some of
which are observable and others are not. Further, the classification of an instrument can change over time to
reflect changes in market liquidity and therefore price transparency.

Fair Value Hierarchy

The financial instruments carried at fair value have been categorized under the three levels of the SLFRS fair
value hierarchy as follows:

Level 1 — Instruments valued using quoted prices in active markets are instruments where the fair value can
be determined directly from prices which are quoted in active, liquid markets and where the instrument
observed in the market is representative of that being priced in the Branch’s inventory.

Level 2 — Instruments valued with valuation techniques using observable market data are instruments where
the fair value can be determined by reference to similar instruments trading in active markets, or where a
technique is used to derive the valuation but where all inputs to that technique are observable.

Level 3 — Instruments valued using valuation techniques using market data which is not directly observable,
are instruments where the fair value cannot be determined directly by reference to market-observable
information, and some other pricing technique must be employed. Instruments classified in this category have
an element which is unobservable and which has a significant impact on the fair value.

Recognition of Trade Date Profit

Trade date profit is recognised if the fair value of the financial instrument measured at fair value through profit
or loss is obtained from a quoted market price in an active market, or otherwise evidenced by comparison to
other observable current market transactions, or based on a valuation technique incorporating observable
market data. If there are significant unobservable inputs used in the valuation technique, the financial
instrument is recognized at the transaction price, and any profit implied from the valuation technique at trade
date is deferred.
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3.4

3.4.1

Using systematic methods, the deferred amount is recognized over the period between trade date and the date
when the market is expected to become observable, or over the life of the trade (whichever is shorter). Such
methodology is used because it reflects the changing economic and risk profile of the instrument as the market
develops or as the instrument itself progresses to maturity. Any remaining trade date deferred profit is
recognized in the profit or loss when the transaction becomes observable or the Branch enters into off-setting
transactions that substantially eliminate the instrument’s risk. In the rare circumstances that a trade date loss
arises, it would be recognized at inception of the transaction to the extent that it is probable that a loss has been
incurred, and a reliable estimate of the loss amount can be made.

Critical Accounting Estimates — Management judgment is required in determining whether there exist
significant unobservable inputs in the valuation technique. Once deferred, the decision to subsequently
recognize the trade date profit requires a careful assessment of the then current facts and circumstances
supporting observability of parameters and/or risk mitigation.

Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Branch’s non-financial assets are reviewed at each reporting date to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. For intangible assets that have indefinite useful lives or that are not yet available for use,
the recoverable amount is estimated each year at the same time.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell.

In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped together into
the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use, that are largely independent of
the cash inflows of other assets.

Impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss.

Property, plant and equipment
Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses if any.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-
constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to
bringing the assets to a working condition for their intended use, the costs of dismantling and removing the
items and restoring the site on which they are located, and capitalised borrowing costs. Cost also may include
transfers from equity of any gain or loss on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign currency purchases of
property and equipment. Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is
capitalised as part of that equipment.

When parts of an item of property, plant or equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined by comparing the

proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of the item of property, plant and equipment, and is
recognised in other operating income/other overhead expenses in the profit or loss.
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3.4.2

3.4.3

34.4

Subsequent costs

The cost of replacing a component of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will flow to the
Branch and its cost can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. The
costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the profit or loss as
incurred.

Depreciation
Depreciation is recognised in the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each
part of an item of property, plant and equipment since this most closely reflects the expected pattern of

consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years are as follows:

Item Useful life (years)
Computer equipment 3-5

Office equipment, furniture & fittings, fixtures 5

Safes 5-20
Telephone/Tele printer, Air-conditioners 8§-8

Others 3-10

Depreciation of an asset begins when it is available for use and ceases at the earlier of the dates on which the
asset is classified as held for sale or is derecognized.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed at each reporting date and adjusted if
appropriate.

Valuation of Immovable Property kept as collateral on staff loans

The Branch will request the borrower to obtain a valuation report from a certified valuer acceptable to the
Branch for immovable properties held by the Branch as collateral in support of staff loans to its employees.
Credit decisions of the Branch shall be based upon suitable documents, obtained through valid sources as
below;

Every valuation must be performed by a professional holding minimum requirement stipulated below;
a) A member of the Institute of Valuers of Sri Lanka (IVSL) who shall be:
i) A fellow member; or

ii) A Professional Associate member with 5 years experience in such grade of membership

For the purpose of determining number of years of experience in the grade of professional Associate
Membership, the transitional provisions stated in the Section 24 of the IVSL {(Amendment) Act, No. 9 0f2019,
shall be applicable.

b) A chartered valuation surveyor of the Royal Institution of chartered surveyors (RICS) of the United

Kingdom who shall be:
i) A Fellow member; or
i) other members with at least 5 years of experience in such grade of membership.

The selected valuer as per the qualifications set out above shall acquire continuous professional development
as approved/recommended by the respective professional body.

P AR R
The Branch-his prescribied tlie

:cessity of revaluations as below;
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3.5

3.5.1

In respect of non-performing loans, to adhere with the conditions stipulated in the Banking Act Directions
No.13 & 14 of 2021 on Classification, Recognition and Measurement of Credit Facilities in Licensed Banks.

Timeframe of the report - With respect to credit facilities granted against residential property which is occupied
by the borrower for residential purposes, the Branch shall accept valuation reports not older than 4 years
provided the report is originating from a certified valuer acceptable to the Branch.

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Branch assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset, the Branch uses the definition of a lease in SLFRS 16.

As a lessee

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Branch allocates
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative standalone price. However, for
leases of property the Branch has elected not to separate non-lease components and accounts for the lease and
non-lease components as a single lease component.

The Branch recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-
use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any
lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred, and an estimate
of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, less any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date
to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the Branch by the end
of the lease term or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Branch will exercise a purchase option. In
that case the right-of-use asset will be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is
determined on the same basis as those of property, plant and equipment. In addition, the right-of-use asset is
periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily
determined, the Branch’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Branch uses its incremental borrowing rate
as the discount rate.

The Branch determines its incremental borrowing rate by analysing its borrowings from various external sources
and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of asset leased.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

- fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

- variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at
the commencement date;

- amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and

- the exercise price under a purchase option that the Branch is reasonably certain to exercise, lease
payments in an optional renewal period if the Branch is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option,
and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Branch is reasonably certain not to terminate
early.
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3.5.2

3.6

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when
there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in
the Branch’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, if the Branch
changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a
revised in-substance fixed lease payment.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has
been reduced to zero.

The Branch presents right-of-use assets in ‘property and equipment’ and lease liabilities in ‘other liabilities’
in the statement of financial position.

As a lessor

At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Branch allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative standalone prices.

When the Branch acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an
operating lease.

To classify each lease, the Branch makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially
all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease
is a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Branch considers certain
indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic life of the asset.

When the Branch is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the sub-lease
separately. It assesses the lease classification of a sub-lease with reference to the right-of-use asset arising
from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset. If a head lease is a short-term lease to which
the Branch applies the exemption described above, then it classifies the sub-lease as an operating lease.

If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, then the Branch applies SLFRS 15 to allocate
the consideration in the contract. The Branch applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in
SLFRS 9 to the net investment in the lease. The Branch further regularly reviews estimated unguaranteed
residual values used in calculating the gross investment in the lease.

The Branch recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight-line basis
over the lease term as part of “other revenue”.

Generally, the accounting policies applicable to the Branch as a lessor in the comparative period were not
different from SLFRS 16.

Provisions

A provision is recognized in the Financial Position when the Branch has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognized as a provision is the net estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation as of the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.

If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are discounted and measured at the present
value of the gxpenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation, using a pre-tax rate that reflects the
curreptfiiatkt dssdssn of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase
in t}‘(e"]igd:&;rﬁaﬁ-aﬁé“ to'th sage of time is recognized as interest expense.
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3.6.1

3.7

3.7.1

3.7.2

3.7.3

a)

When some or all the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a
third party (for example, because the obligation is covered by an insurance policy), an asset is recognized if
it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received.

Critical Accounting Estimates - The use of estimates is important in determining provisions for potential
losses that may arise from litigation, regulatory proceedings and uncertain income tax positions. The Branch
estimates and provides for potential losses that may arise out of litigation, regulatory proceedings and
uncertain income tax positions to the extent that such losses are probable and can be estimated.

Financial guarantees

Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make specified payments to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payments when due, in accordance
with the terms of a debt instrument.

The Branch has chosen to apply the fair value option to certain written financial guarantees that are managed
on a fair value basis. Financial guarantees that the Branch has not designated at fair value are recognized
initially in the financial statements at fair value on the date the guarantee is given. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the Branch’s liabilities under such guarantees are measured at the higher of the amount initially
recognized, less cumulative amortization, and the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle any
financial obligation as of the reporting date. These estimates are determined based on experience with similar
transactions and history of past losses, and management’s determination of the best estimate.

Any increase in the liability relating to guarantees would be recorded in the profit or loss in provision for
credit losses.

Employee benefits

Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash

bonus or profit-sharing plans, if the Branch has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount
as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Defined contribution plans
A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions

into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts. Obligations
for such contributions covering all employees are recognised as an expense in profit and loss when incurred.

Defined benefit plan

Retiring Gratuity

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contributlion plan.

Gratuity is a defined benefit plan. The Branch accounts for the provision for Defined Benefit Plan — Gratuity

in conformity with LKAS 19 — Employee Benefits. However, under the payment of Gratuity Act No. 12 of
1983, the liability to an employee arises only on completion of five years of continued service.
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3.7.3.1

3.8

b)

The Branch measures the present value of promised retirement benefits of gratuity using the actuarial
valuation method as recommended by LKAS 19 - Employee Benefits, with the advice of a Consultant
Actuary.

The Gratuity liability is not externally funded.

Recognition of actuarial gain/ (losses)

The Branch recognizes all actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit plans in other
comprehensive income, in the period in which they arise.

Share based payment transactions
Restricted Equity Award (REA)

Branch’s compensation structures are designed to provide mechanisms that promote and support long-term
performance of its employees and the bank. Whilst a portion of Variable Compensation (VC) is paid upfront,
these structures require that an appropriate portion is deferred to ensure alignment to the sustainable
performance of the Group.

At the same time, the Branch believes that the use of shares or share-based instruments for deferred VC is
an effective way to align compensation with Deutsche Bank’s sustainable performance and the interests of
shareholders. By using Deutsche Bank shares, the value of the individual’s VC is linked to Deutsche Bank’s
share price over the deferral and retention period.

Whilst ensuring lower compensated employees are not subject to deferrals, the bank’s compensation
structure ensures an appropriate amount of deferred VC for higher earners, exceeding specified thresholds
determined globally. The portion of VC, awarded in Deutsche Bank Group shares, is deferred over a defined
period of time and subject to performance conditions and forfeiture provisions. Employees receiving share
based deferred compensation awards i.e. Restricted Equity Award (REA) are communicated at the end of
the bank’s annual compensation review process in March. The employees compensation statement will state
the initial value of their REA, typically denominated in local currency. The equity award, is converted into
a number of DB Share Units with reference to the relevant year-end exchange rate and DB share price (the
“grant price”, as determined by the bank). This process occurs centrally, and the accrual is assigned to the
relevant entity. This amount is charged to the profit or loss as an expense.

Commitments and Contingencies

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events whose existence will be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events beyond the control of the Branch. The
Branch does not recognise contingent assets but discloses its existence where inflows of economic benefits
are probable, but not virtually certain.
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3.10

Interest income / expense
Effective interest rate

Interest income and expense are recognised in income statement using the effective interest method. The
“effective interest rate” is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through
the expected life of the financial instrument to:

the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or
the amortised cost of the financial liability.

When calculating the effective interest rate for financial instruments other than purchased or originated credit
impaired assets, the Group estimates future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial
instrument, but not ECL. For purchased or originated credit impaired financial assets, a credit-adjusted
effective interest rate is calculated using estimated future cash flows including ECL. The calculation of the
effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees and points paid or received that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs include incremental costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial liability.

Amortised cost and gross carrying amount

The “amortised cost” of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or
financial liability is measured on initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and
the maturity amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any expected credit loss allowance. The “gross
carrying amount of a financial asset” is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting for any expected
credit loss allowance.

Calculation of interest income and expense

The effective interest rate of a financial asset or financial liability is calculated on initial recognition of a
financial asset or a financial liability. In calculating interest income and expense, the effective interest rate is
applied to the gross carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not credit impaired) or to the amortised
cost of the liability. The effective interest rate is revised as a result of periodic re-estimation of cash flows of
floating-rate instruments to reflect movements in market rates of interest. The effective interest rate is also
revised for fair value hedge adjustments at the date on which amortisation of the hedge adjustment begins.

With the adoption of Sri Lanka Accounting Standard — SLFRS 9 on “Financial Instruments” the Bank has
aligned its interest recognition policy with internal risk management practices. As per the internal risk
management policies of the Bank, the facilities are considered to be credit impaired when three or more
instalments are in arrears and the Bank has estimated that the probability of recoverability of the interest
income from such loan facilities are low. Accordingly the Bank discontinues recognition of interest income
on such loan facilities and cash flows are assessed based on the amortised cost net of interest. If the asset is no
longer credit impaired the calculation of interest income reverts to the gross basis.

Fee and Commission income / expense
Five-step revenue recognition model to the recognition of Commissions and Fee Income, under which income

must be recognized when control of goods and services is transferred, hence the contractual performance
obligations to the customer has been satisfied.
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3.12

3.13

3.14

3.15

Accordingly, after a contract with a customer has been identified in the first step, the second step is to identify
the performance obligation — or a series of distinct performance obligations — provided to the customer. The
Branch must examine whether the service is capable of being distinct and is actually distinct within the context
of the contract. A promised service is distinct if the customer can benefit from the service either on its own or
together with other resources that are readily available to the customer, and the promise to transfer the service
to the customer is separately identifiable from other promises in the contract. The amount of income is
measured on the basis of the contractually agreed transaction price for the performance obligation defined in
the contract. If a contract includes variable consideration, the Branch estimates the amount of consideration to
which it will be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods or services to a customer. Income is
recognized in profit and loss when the identified performance obligation has been satisfied.

Expenses that are directly related and incremental to the generation of Commissions and Fee Income are
presented net in Commissions and Fee Income. This includes income and associated expense where the Branch

contractually owns the performance obligation (i.e. as Principal) in relation to the service that gives rise to the
revenue and associated expense.

Dividends

Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive income is established. Usually this is the ex-dividend
date for equity where the Branch receives on its mandatory investments in Lanka Clear (Pvt). Ltd and Credit
Information Bureau of Sri Lanka. These are accounted for in other operating income in the profit or loss.

Net trading income

Net trading income comprises gains less losses related to trading assets and liabilities and includes all
realized and unrealized fair value changes and foreign revaluation exchange differences.

Profit/loss from sale of Property, plant & equipment

Profit/loss from sale of property, plant and equipment is recognized in the period in which the sale occurred
and is classified as other operating income.

Other expenses

The expenditure incurred on personal cost, premises, equipment and establishment has been apportioned
between the FCBU and the DBU based on the volume of transactions.

Cash Flow Statement

The cash flow statement has been prepared by using the “Indirect Method” of preparing of cash flow statement
in accordance with the LKAS 7, Cash Flow Statements.

Net unrealized gains/ (losses) from translation of Financial Statements of foreign operation, are adjusted
through cash flows from operating activities.
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3.16.1

3.16.2

Segment Reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Branch that engages in business activities from which it may earn
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the
Branch’s other components, whose operating results are reviewed regularly by the Management Committee to
make decisions about resources allocated to each segment and assess its performance, and for which discrete
financial information is available.

These include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable
basis. Unallocated items comprise mainly corporate assets, Group expenses, and tax assets and liabilities.

The following business segments represent the Group’s organizational structure as reflected in its internal
management reporting systems as of December 31, 2022.

Corporate Bank (CB)
Investment Bank (IB)
Private Bank (PB)

Asset Management (AM)
Capital Release Unit (CRU)
= Corporate & Other (C&O)

Of the above, only Corporate Bank & Investment Bank businesses are represented in Sri Lanka as at 31
December 2022.

Corporate Bank (CB)

Corporate banking is an integral part of our business. Firstly, our capabilities in Cash Management, Trade
Finance and Lending, as well as Foreign Exchange, the latter delivered in close collaboration with the
Investment Bank, enable us to serve core needs of our corporate clients. As a leading bank serving
multinational and German corporates domestically and abroad, we help clients in optimizing their working
capital and liquidity, securing global supply chains and distribution channels and managing their risks.
Secondly, we act as a specialized provider of services to Financial Institutions, offering Correspondent
Banking, Trust and Agency and Securities Services. Finally, we provide business banking services to clients,
covering small corporates and entrepreneur clients and offering a largely standardized product suite.

Main product offerings: Corporate Cash Management, Trade Finance, Securities Services.

Corporate Cash Management (CCM)

CCM provides a wide range of reliable, world-class solutions that help clients improve liquidity and cash flow
and optimize their treasury and payment businesses. Deutsche Bank’s global cash management services aims
to provide companies with effective ways to generate synergies and realize cost-benefits - based on advanced
technologies and experienced staff around the globe.

Primary services empower clients to optimize receivables and payables processes, integrate more tightly with
their supply chain, forecast working capital needs more effectively. Drivers of the business are the need for
especially large corporates to increase transparency around their payments procedures, enforce strict controls
(in line with regulatory requirements) and increase automation and standardization.
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3.16.3

3.16.4

3.16.5

Trade Finance (TF)

Trade Finance delivers fast, efficient, reliable and comprehensive solutions for every stage of a client's trade
value chain, to support their foreign trade activities. International trade is highly complex and involves a range
of risks. Deutsche Bank’s Trade Finance teams deliver unparalleled services, innovative solutions and superior
trade expertise that enable clients to manage risks and other issues associated with their import, export and
domestic trade transactions, including international trade products and financial supply chain management.

Securities Services (SeS)

SeS offers the provision of custodian services for the securities portfolios of both cross-border/offshore clients
(sub-custody) and onshore/resident clients (domestic custody). Services included are safekeeping of clients’
portfolio, settlement of trades, asset servicing (corporate action notices, income processing, income collection,
very limited tax services generally restricted to document collation for lower tax treaty rates, entitlements
procession, redemptions, exchange offers, rights, etc.), cash services related to their cash settlement balances
including preparation of cash projection reports and FX services.

Complementing the custodian function, is the Fund Administration and Trustee services which is directed at the
unit trust (mutual funds), insurance and asset management industry. Our proprietary systems are capable of
generating Net Asset Value (NAV) calculations and financial statements in line with both the Sri Lanka
Financial Reporting Standards (SLFRS) and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).

Investment Bank (IB)

The Investment Bank (IB) remains core to our business. Across Origination and Advisory (O&A) and Fixed
Income and Sales and Trading (FIC), corporate and institutional clients are able to access a comprehensive
range of services, encompassing advisory, debt and equity issuance, financing, market making / liquidity
provision and risk management solutions. The division regionally encompasses EMEA, Americas and APAC,
with a strategy that is focused upon operating in areas of competitive strength.

NEW AND AMENDED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS THAT ARE ISSUED, BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE AS AT REPORTING DATE

The new and amended standards that are issued, but not yet effective to the date of issuance of these financial
statements are disclosed below.

- SLFRS 17 — Insurance Contracts

This is a comprehensive new accounting standard for insurance contracts covering recognition and
measurement, presentation and disclosure. Once effective, SLFRS 17 will replace SLFRS 4 Insurance
Contracts (SLFRS 4) that was issued in 2005. SLFRS 17 applies to all types of insurance contracts (i.e., life,
non-life, direct insurance and re-insurance), regardless of the type of entities that issue them, as well as to
certain guarantees and financial instruments with discretionary participation features.

- Amendments to LKAS 8 - Definition of Accounting Estimates

The amendments clarify the distinction between changes in accounting estimates and changes in accounting
policies and the correction of errors. Also, they clarify how entities use measurement techniques and inputs to
develop accounting estimates. The amended standard clarifies that the effects on an accounting estimate of a
change in an input or a change in a measurement technique are changes in accounting estimates if they do not
result from the correction of prior period errors.
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- Amendments to LKAS 12 - Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

The amendments clarify that where payments that settle a liability are deductible for tax purposes, it is a matter
of judgement (having considered the applicable tax law) whether such deductions are attributable for tax
purposes to the liability recognised in the financial statements (and interest expense) or to the related asset
component (and interest expense). This judgement is important in determining whether any temporary
differences exist.on initial recognition of the asset and liability. —

- Amendments to LKAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to LKAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements, provides guidance
and examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to accounting policy disclosures. The amendments
aim to help entities provide accounting policy disclosures that are more useful by:

- Replacing the requirement for entities to disclose their ‘significant’ accounting policies with a
requirement to disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies

- Adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality in making decisions about
accounting policy disclosures

- Amendments to LKAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

Amendments to LKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements specify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify —

- What is meant by a right to defer settlement

- That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period

- That classification is unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right

- That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument
would  the terms of a liability not impact its classification

- Disclosures

None of the new or amended pronouncements are expected to have a material impact on the financial
statements of the Branch.
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5.1

CHANGES IN SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Branch has not adopted any standards, interpretations or amendments that have been issued but not yet effective, in advance.
The other accounting policies adopted by the Branch are consistent with those of the previous financial year.

GROSS INCOME

Interest income

Fee and commission income
Net gain from trading

Net other operating income

NET INTEREST INCOME

Interest income

Placements with banks

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets at amortized cost - Loans and advances

Financial assets at amortized cost - Debt and other instruments

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
Total interest income

Interest expenses

Due to banks

Financial liabilities at amortized cost - Due to depositors
Total interest expenses

Net interest income

2022
Rs.

5.999,380,915

639,405,529
1,564,140,745
159,774,779

2021
Rs.

2,659.030.237
487,629,342
586,930,636
147,974,934

8.362,701,968

3,881,565.148

2022 2021

Rs. Rs.
2,352,489,415 588,843,202
- 181,632,182
3,216,301,117 1,243,957,434
402,379,933 386,245,162
28,210,450 258,352,257
5,999,380,915 2,659,030,237
218,070,438 205,283,227
277,648,283 149,774,562
495,718,721 355,057,789

5,503,662,194

2.303,972.448

The amounts reported above include the interest income and expense, calculated using the effective interest method, that relate to the following

financial assets and financial liabilities.

Financial assets at amortized cost - Loans and advances to customers

'Financial assets at amortized cost - Debt and other instruments

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
Total

Financial liabilities at amortized cost - Due to depositors

Accountants
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26,839,735,777

7,547,678,250

42,338,984

27,247,307,757

3,830,911,957

1,123,699,484

34,429,753,011

32,201,919,197

38,856,513,092

24,386,640,445




Deutsche Bank AG - Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

7. NET INTEREST INCOME (Contd...)

7.1  Net interest income from Sri Lanka Government securities

Interest Income

Net interest income from Sri Lanka Government Securities

8. NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

Fee and commission income (Note 8.1)
Fee and commission expenses
Net fee and commission income

8.1 Fee and commission income

Trade and remittances

Guarantees

Other banking services

2022 2021
Rs Rs.
430,590,383 826,229,602
430,590,383 826,229,602
2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
639,405,529 487,629,342
57,444,642 40,351,771
581,960,887 447,271,571
185,296,896 90,482,502
107,346,138 45,147 483
346,762,495 351,999,356
639,405,529 487,629,342

Fee and commission income from other banking services includes fees and commissions collected from customers by providing global cash
management services, custody fees, trustee fees and fund transfer facilities.

8.2  Performance obligations and revenue recognition policy

Fee and Commission income from contracts with customers is measured based on the consideration specified in the contract with customers.
Branch recognizes revenue when it transfers control over a service to a customer.

The following table provides information about the nature and timing of the satisfaction of performance obligations in contracts with
customers, including significant payment terms, and the related revenue recognition policies.

Type of service

Nature and timing of satisfaction of performance obligations, including
significant payment terms

Revenue recognition under SLFRS 15

Retail and Corporate
finance Service

The Branch provides lending services to retail and corporate customers,
including providing other loan facilities. Transaction-based fees for
interchange and loans are charged to the customer’s account when the
transaction takes place.

Income is recognized in Profit & Loss
when the identified performance
obligation has been satisfied.

Foreign Exchange
From Banks
From customers

NET GAIN FROM TRADING

Net unrealized forward (losses)/gains
Fixed income securities
Revaluation loss of inter entity payables
Net gain/(loss) from Financial instruments at fair value through profit and loss

Total
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2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
1,052,587,448 455,658,133
552,986,642 183,739,512
(41,769,516) 21,801,182
336,171 33,546,573
- (42,814,764)
- (65,000,000)
1,564,140,745 586,930,636
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10.

10.1

11.

12.

NET OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Dividend income

Intergroup recoveries (Note 10.1)

Cost recoveries from customers

Gain/Loss on inter entity payable revaluation
Gain/Loss on inter entity Expense transfer
Gain/(Loss) on sale of property, plant and equipment

Total

Intergroup recoveries

2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
3,517,500 4,318,500
(84,711,372) 123,098,219
36,220,302 20,558,215
108,641,047 -
94,735,434 -
1,371,868 -
159,774,779 147,974,934

The Branch provides services to the Financial Institutions Sales Desk, as part of Global Transaction Banking (GTB) within
the Corporate Bank Division of the Deutsche Bank Group. Revenues resulting from such services provided are included in

the Intergroup recoveries income.

IMPAIRMENT CHARGES

Financial assets at amortised cost - Loans and advances (Note 22.3)

Stage 1
Stage 2

Financial assets at amortized cost — debt instruments (Note 23.1)

Stage 1
Stage 2

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (Note 24.3)

Stage 1

Contingent liabilities & commitments (Note 34.2.1)
Stage 1
Stage 2

Balances with banks (Note 16.1 & Note 17.1)

Provision for country risk (Note 34.3)
Total Impairment charges

PERSONNEL EXPENSES

Salary and bonus

Contributions to defined contribution plans
Provision for defined benefit obligations (Note 32)
Others/Other allowances and Staff related expenses
Total personnel expenses

Li 7
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2022
Rs.

3,459,846
11,504,826

(328,053,275)

2021
Rs.

5,081,283
(149,301)

192,594,931
(95,418,746)

19,295,803 10,782,919
27,398,975 -
8,575,682 6,702,001
(16,444,510) 8,922,737
(274,262,653) 128,515,824
2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
329,682,183 217,421,594
47,971,923 50,334,798
12,535,707 10,675,669
268,944,651 185,246,999
659.134.,464 463,679,060
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13. OTHER EXPENSES 2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
Auditors’ remunerations
Audit fees and expenses 1,640,000 1,190,000
Audit related fees and expenses 750,000 650,000
Non-audit fees to auditors 3,881,855 1,191,780
Professional and legal expenses (Note 13.1) 5,358,834 2,232,087
Inter-entity Expenses (Note 13.2)
Head Office related expenses 138,910,790 295,555,546
Inter-entity other expenses 731,146,413 686,449,175
Office administration and establishment expenses 546,720,271 327,023,693
Operational loss on inter entity revaluation - 152,718,061
Crop Insurance Levy 34,169,158 8,987,486
Finance expense on lease liability 24,461,254 1,242,551
Total Other expenses 1,487,038,575  1,477,240,379

13.1 Professional and legal expenses

Professional fees includes the fees paid to tax consultants and other valuation specialists employed by the Branch. From
current year onwards, income tax related consultations and tax disputes prior to 2019 will be handled by one Consulting
firm. The Branch has employed two legal firms on pending litigations.

The Branch receives Regional Head Office expenses from the Asia Pacific Head Office, which provides infrastructure
support for the entire Asia-Pacific Region. The Branch also receives a share of Global Overheads, which are costs relating
to centralized steering, co-ordination and monitoring functions performed for Deutsche Bank Group as a whole.

In addition, Deutsche Bank Colombo Branch receives other Inter-Entity expenses for services which are directly and

specifically related to Local Franchise activities and transactions. This includes charges for services from Sales, Coverage,
and Structuring teams, Regional / Global Management and Support functions, Audit, Human Resources as well as

These costs are shared between branches and subsidiaries of the Group, and the Branch recognises these costs under Inter-

13.2  Inter-entity Expenses
Technology and Operations.
Entity expenses.

14. TAXEXPENSES

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the Income Statement except to the
extent it relates to items recognised directly in equity or OCI, in which case it is recognised in equity or OCI.

Accordingly, provision for taxation is made on the basis of the accounting profit for the year as adjusted for taxation
purposes, in accordance with the provisions of the Inland Revenue Act No. 45 of 2022.

2022 2021
Amount recognised in profit or loss Rs. Rs.
Current tax expense
Current year 1,436,875,692 306,239,315

(Over)/under provision for prior years
Over provision for prior year due to rate change

Deferred ta ;ﬂﬁieqse& YO
Def?{d tax asSet origimat

Total tax expenses =

-39-

(99,885,578)

(53.292,314)

ing the year (Note 26.1)
Deferred tax |iabititteesiginat ?d ring the year (Note 26.2)

1,336,990,114 252,947,001
56,669,756 (12,179,087)
7,071,888 (573,526)
63,741,644 (12,752,613)

1,400,731,758

240,194,388
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16.

16.1

16.2

17.

171

BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANKS

Statutory balance with Central Banks
Central Bank of Sri Lanka (Note 16.2)

Non-statutory balances with Central Banks
Central Bank of Sri Lanka
Total balances with Central Banks

Provision for impairment (Note 16.1)

Impairment provision for CBSL balances

Stage 1

Opening balance at 1 January
Charge to income statement
Closing balance at 31 December

Stage 2

Opening balance at 1 January
Charge to income statement
Closing balance at 31 December

2022
Rs.

931,079,427

16,953,496,154

2021
Rs.

3,389,378,076

2,515.345.467

17,884,575,581

5,904,723,543

(15,957,224)

(1,689,049)

17,868,618,357 5,903,034,494
2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
15,957,042 -
15,957,042 -
1,689,049 679,541
(1,688,867) 1,009,508
182 1,689,049

Balances with the Central Bank of Sri Lanka are carried at amortized cost in the statement of financial position.

Statutory balances with Central Bank of Sri Lanka

As required by the provisions of Section 93 of Monetary Law Act, a minimum cash balance is maintained with the Central
Bank of Sri Lanka. The minimum cash reserve requirement on Rupee-denominated deposit liabilities is prescribed as a
percentage of the balance of these liabilities. The percentage varies from time to time. The applicable minimum rate in 2022

is at 4%.

There are no reserve requirements for deposit liabilities held in the Foreign Currency Banking Unit and foreign currency

deposit liabilities held in the Domestic Banking Unit.

PLACEMENTS WITH BANKS

Placements with local banks
Provision for impairment (Note 17.1)

Placements with banks are carried at amortized cost in the statement of financial position.

Impairment provision for placements with banks

Opening balance at 1 January
Charge to Income Statement
-‘_...'-.""‘-"‘n

2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
- 8,001,293,151
- (5,692,493)
- 7,995,600,658
2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
5,692,493 -
(5,692,493) 5,692,493

5,692,493
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14. TAX EXPENSES (Contd...)

14.1 Reconciliation of effective tax rate with income tax rate

First 6 months at 24% statutory tax rate

Second 6 months at 30% statutory tax rate
Income tax for the year
Add: Tax effect of expenses that are not deductible for tax purposes
(Less): Tax effect of expenses that are deductible for tax purposes
Current tax expense

(Over)/under provision for prior years

Over provision for prior year due to rate change

Deferred tax asset originated during the year

Deferred tax liability originated during the year
Total tax expenses

14.2  Amount recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (OCI)

Tax on items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Remeasurement of Defined Benefit Liability (Note 26.1)

Tax on items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Movement in fair value reserve (FVOCI debt instruments) (Note 26.2)

Effective tax Rate excluding Deferred Tax

15. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash in hand
Balances with banks
Total

2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
575,772,693 -
__719.715.867 £
1,295,488,560 270,336,598
253,838,809 113,492,462
(112.451,991) (77,589,744)
1,436,875,378 306,239,315
(99,885,578) -
- (53,292,314)
56,669,756 (12,179,087)
7,071,888 (573,526)
1,400,731,444 240,194,388
2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
(1,523,263) 855,242
1,285,238 (1,028,190)
(238,025) (172,948)
43% 39%
2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
88,834,962 70,043,404
13,363,618,279 86,514,234
13,452,453,241 156,557,638

Cash and Cash Equivalents are carried at amortized cost in the Statement of Financial Position.
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18.

19.

20.

21.

22,

221

2022
PLACEMENTS WITH BRANCHES Rs.

Deutsche Bank AG - Branches 6,101,049,045

2021
Rs.

5,978,294,374

Total 6,101,049,045

5,978,294,374

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 2022 2021
Rs.
Foreign currency derivatives
Forward foreign exchange contracts 48,544,177 2,436,665
Total 48,544,177 2,436,665
GROUP BALANCE RECEIVABLE 2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
Branches (Branches of Deutsche Bank AG-Frankfurt) 909,532,959 2,477,007,617
Other Inter-group receivable from Branches and Head Office 286,408,407 256,477,547

1,195,941.366

2,733,485,164

FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
Sri Lanka Government Securities
Treasury Bills ~ .
Treasury Bonds - -
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST - LOANS AND ADVANCES
2022 2021
Financial assets at amortized cost - Loans and advances to customers Rs. Rs.
Gross loans and advances 26,864,029,676  27,256,636,984
Provision for impairment (Note 22.3) (24,293,899) (9,329,227)
Net loans and advances 26,839,735,777  27,247,307,757
Gross loans and advances 2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
Stage 1 17,091,296,578  27,256,636,984
Stage 2 9,772,733,098 -
26,864,029,676  27,256,636,984
Less: Accumulated impairment
Stage 1 (12,789,073) (9,329,227)
Stage 2 (11,504,826) =
(24,293,899) (9,329,227)
Net loans and advances 26,839,735,777  27,247,307,757
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22,

22.2

22.3

224

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST - LOANS AND ADVANCES (Contd...)

Analysis

By product
Overdrafts
Trade finance
Staff loans
Supplier Finance

Gross total

By currency
Sri Lankan Rupee
United States Dollar
Euro

Gross total

By industry
Agriculture and fishing
Manufacturing
Tourism
Transport
Construction
Traders
Professional, Scientific & Technical
Financial and Business Services
Infrastructure Development
Others

Gross total

Movements in impairment during the year

Stage 1

Opening balance as at 1 January

(Write back)/Charge to Income Statement
Closing balance at 31 December

Stage 2

Opening balance as at 1 January
(Write back) to Income Statement
Closing balance at 31 December
Total

Sensitivity of impairment provision on loans and advances to other customers

2022
Rs.

17,654,019,142
5,407,664,733
100,573,117
3,701,772,684

2021
Rs.

17,844,482,878
8,108,736,186
111,472,492
1,191,945,427

26,864,029,676  27,256,636,984

20,389,159,632  18,307,069,069
6,474,870,044 8,949,567,915
26,864,029,676  27,256,636,984
389,654,391 472,541,631
6,619,826,145 9,006,292,735
1,259,707,268 756,019,997
346,496,540 316,085,616
51,194,931 68,351,837

8,873,460,236
2,438,565,825

8,805,693,648
3,028,086,802

- 19,458,491
3,126,028,051  4,740,985,571
3,759,096,289 43,120,655

26,864,029,676  27,256,636,984

9,329,227 4,247,944

3,459,846 5,081,283

12,789.073 9329227

: 149,301

11,504,826 (149,301)
11,504,826 .

24,293,899 9,329,227

The Bank has estimated the impairment provision on loans and advances to other customers as at December 31, 2022, subject to various
assumptions. The changes to such assumptions may lead to changes in the impairment provision recorded in the Statement of Financial

Position.
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22.

22.4

23.

23.1

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST - LOANS AND ADVANCES (Contd...)

Sensitivity of impairment provision on loans and advances to other customers (Contd...)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity of the impairment provision of the Bank as at December 31, 2022 to a feasible change in

PDs, LGDs and forward looking macro-economic information.

Sensitivity effect on Statement of Financial Position Sensitivity effect

PD/LGD [Increase/(Decrease) In Impairment provision] on Income
—Stage+—|—Stage2—|—Stage 3— Total Statement —

PD 1% Increase across all age buckets 98,554 115,124 - 213,678 (213,678)
PD 1% Decrease across all age buckets (156,646) (114,974) - (271,620) 271,620
LGD 5% increase 637,870 575,320 - 1,213,190 (1,213,190)
LGD 5% decrease (638,133) (575,170) - (1,213,303) 1,213,303
Probability weighted forward looking Macro Economic
Indicators
-Base case 10% increase, worst case 5% decrease and
best case 5% decrease (406,834) (367,690) - (773,874) 773,874
-Base case 1(?% decrease, worst case 5% increase and 409,433 367,190 } 776,622 (776,622)
best case 5% increase

Forward-looking information

The bank incorporates forward-looking information into both its assessment as to whether the credit risk of an instrument has increased
significantly since its initial recognition and its measurement of ECL. The bank also obtained experienced credit judgement from economic
experts and Credit and Risk Management Departments to formulate a base case, a best case and a worst case scenario. The base case
represents a most-likely outcome and is aligned with information used by the bank for budgeting and forecasting. The bank has identified
and documented key drivers of credit risk both quantitative and qualitative for various portfolio segments. Quantitative economic factors are

based on economic data and forecasts published by the CBSL and other reliable sources.

Quantitative drivers of credit risk Qualitative drivers of credit risk

GDP Growth Status of the Industry Business
Inflation Regulatory System

Interest Rate Govemment Policies
Unemployment

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST - DEBT AND OTHER FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Sri Lanka Government Securities

S Lanka Development Bonds 7,547,678,250 4,158,965,232
Provision for impairment (Note 23.1) - (328,053,275)
Net Debt and other financial instruments 7,547,678,250 3,830,911,957
Movements in impairment during the year
Stage 1
Opening balance as at | January 328,053,275 135,458,344
Charge/(Write back) to Income statement (328,053.275) 192,594,931
Closing balance at 31 December - 328,053,275
Stage 2
Opening balance as at 1 January - 95,418,746
Charge/(Write back) to income statement - (95,418,746)

Closing balance at 31 December =

Total =

328,053,275

The SLDB portfolio of USD 20 Mn matured on 23 Jan 2023, and the Government settled the same in terms of LKR bonds amounting to

LKR 7,462,913,_§_-]_U= zash of LKR 4,929/= in full, on the same day.
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Deutsche Bank AG - Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

26.

26.1

26.2

26.3

26.4

DEFERRED TAX (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS 2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
Deferred tax assets (Note 26.1) 51,873,099 107,019,592
Deferred tax liabilities (Note 26.2) (10,626,929) (2,269,803)
41,246,170 104,749,790
The movements on the deferred tax account is as follows:
Deferred tax assets
Balance as at the beginning of the year 107,019,592 94,667,557
(Reversed)/originated during the year - recognized in profit or loss (56,669,756) 12,179,087
(Reversed)/originated during the year - recognized in other comprehensive income 1,523,263 172,948
Balance as at the end of the year 51,873,099 107,019,592
Deferred tax liabilities
Balance as at the beginning of the year 2,269,803 2,843,329
Originated/(Reversed) during the year through profit or loss 7,071,888 (573,526)
Originated during the year through other comprehensive income 1,285,238 -
Balance as at the end of the year 10,626,929 2,269,803
Recognized deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:
2022 2021
Temporary Temporary
difference bl difference aetiecy
Deferred tax assets
Employee benefit obligation 73,686,048 22,105,814 68,143,907 16,354,538
Fair value loss of FVOCI - Debt instruments - - 4,284,125 1,028,190
Provision for impairment losses 09,224 283 29,767,285 373,486,936 89,636,865
172,910,331 51,873,099 445,914,969 107,019,592
Deferred tax liabilities
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 48,416,952 14,525,086 8,534,772 2,048,345
Provision for restricted equity 48,544 14,563 48,544 11,650
Right-of-use assets 304,211,107 91,263,332 7,302,598 1,752,624
Lease liability (318,600,861) (95,580,258) (7,775,755) (1,866,181)
Provision for cash retention payment 1,347,353 404,206 1,347,353 323,365
35,423,095 10,626,929 9,457,512 2,269,803
Effect of tax rate change on deferred taxes 2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
Deferred tax assets
Originated/(Reversed) during the year 26,754,898 25,875,972
Effect of change in tax rate 484,130,670 (13,523,937)
510,885,568 12,352,035
Deferred tax liabilities
Originategﬂgs:xerssid_{ during the year 567,451 (167,336)
Effect-of chatge'in iax i) 7,789,675 (406,190)
AN R
> 3 8,357,126 (573,526)
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Deutsche Bank AG - Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2022

27,

271

27.2

28.

29.

30.

OTHER ASSETS

Financial assets
Clearing account balances (Note 27.1)

Non-financial assets
Deposits and prepayments
Tax receivable (Note 27.2)
EIR Staff loan

Others

Total

Clearing account balances

2022 2021

Rs. Rs.
952,514,890 407,561,876
952,514,890 407,561,876
73,487,578 214,275,914
343,075,945 328.478.089
50,208,968 45,471,105
145,880,403 28,740,560
612,652,894 616,965,668
1,565,167,784 1,024,527.544

The Clearing account balance represents the balance to be received for Foreign Exchange Transactions, from the other

Banks on behalf of the outward cheque clearing and clearing receivable balance from Sampath Bank PLC.

Receivable from Lanka Clear for cheque clearing
CBSL Exports proceed receivables
BOC USD Clearing Account

Tax receivable

Income tax refunds
Finance VAT receivable

DUE TO BANKS

Balances due to banks
Total

DUE TO BRANCHES

Deutsche Bank AG - Branches
Total

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Foreign exchange derivatives
Forward foreign exchange contracts

Total
518 YOg,

I;:".—'

f( Chartered Q
\  Accountants
~

x> I
CoOLomeQ

2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
657,258,192 329,907,904
272,430,788 65,983,931
22,825,910 11,670,041
952,514,890 407,561,876
2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
305,224,598 288,017,234
37,851,347 40,460,855
343,075,945 328,478,089
2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
3,013,133 1,088,297
3,013,133 1,088,297
2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
8,044,569,488 11,902,146,722
8,044,569,488 11,902,146,722
2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
90,365,580 2,456,987
90,365,580 2,456,987
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Deutsche Bank AG - Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2022

31.

311

32.

32.1

32.2

32.2.1

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT AMORTIZED COST - DUE TO DEPOSITORS

Due to depositors
Total

Analysis of amount due to depositors

By product

Demand deposits (current accounts)
Savings deposits

Margin deposits

Fixed deposits

Total

By currency

Sri Lanka Rupee
United States Dollar
Great Britain Pound
Euro

Swiss Frank
Others*

Total

* Other currencies include Singapore Dollar, Australian Dollar, Canadian Dollar, Hong Kong Dollar and Janapenese Yen.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT

Defined contribution plans

The following contributions have been made to Employees' Provident Fund and Employees' Trust Fund during the year:

Employees' Provident Fund

Employers' Contribution
Employees' Contribution

Employees' Trust Fund

Defined benefit plan -

Opening balance as at 01 January

Provision for the Year (Note 32.2.1)

Actuarial (gain) / loss during the Year (Note 32.2.3)
Gratuity paid during the Year

Closing balance as at 31 December

Provision recognized in the Profit or Loss

Current Service Cost
Interest on Obligation

D
/‘félﬁ YO
C,-‘GH/ x/[’o
“( Chartered \
\_Accountants /
b 7
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2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
38,856,513,092 24,386,640,445
38.856,513,092 24,386,640,445
2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
25,661,133,096 16,204,729,964
8,029,606,012 6,268,533,882
1,377,976,418 33,325,000
3,787,797,566 1,880,051,598
38,856,513,092 24,386,640,445

25,635,232,407
11,966,497,192

18,631,617,421
4,403,093,278

10,075,285 40,845,184
1,219,245,230 1,242,824,130
1,587,873 26,419,840
23,875,105 41,840,592
38.856,513,092 24,386,640,445
2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
45,675,754 42,634,044
27,405,452 25,580,426
5,481,091 5,116,086
2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
68,143,907 80,922,411
12,535,707 10,675,669
5,077,545 (3,563,507)
(12,071,111) (19,890,666)
73.686.048 68,143,907
7,155,110 5,172,945
5,380,597 5,502,724
12,535,707 10,675,669




Deutsche Bank AG - Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

32. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT (Contd...)

2022 2021

32.2.2 Provision recognized in other comprehensive income Rs. Rs.
Actuarial (gain) / loss during the year 5,077,545 (3,563,507)
5,077,545 (3,563,507)

32.2.3 Actuarial valuation

[LKAS 19 tequires the use of actuarial techmiquestonrakea Tetiable-estimate-of the-amount-of retirement benefit-using the-Projected Unit——
Credit Method in order to determine the present value of the retirement benefit obligation. An actuarial valuation was performed on
December 2022 by Mr. M. Poopalanathan, AIA, Messrs. Actuarial and Management Consultants (Pvt) Ltd. The following principal
assumptions were made in arriving at the retirement obligation as at 31 December 2022.

Discount Rate % 19.00% 10.50%
Future salary increment rate % 17.00% 7.70%
Retirement Age 60 60

32.2.4 Sensitivity analysis - Defined benefit plan - gratuity

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in the key assumptions used with all other variables held
constant in the employment benefit liability measurement. The effect to the statement of financial position with the assumed changes in the
discount rates and salary increment rate is given below:

Increase/ (Decrease) in Increase/ (Decrease) 31 December 2022 31 December 2021
Discount Rate in Salary Escalation Sensitivity effect on Sensitivity effect on
Rat . S
ate Defined Benefit Statement ‘.’f Defined Benefit Batiment c.|f
— Comprehensive e Comprehensive
Obligation Obligation
Income Income
Increase/ (Decrease) Increase/ (Decrease)
1% (2,967,064) 2,967,064 (2,838,518) 2,838,518
(1%) 3,476,206 (3,476,206) 3,387,299 (3,387,299)
1% 3,210,885 (3,210,885) 3,089,141 (3,089,141)
(1%) (3,258,969) 3,258,969 (3,159,119) 3,159,119

Discount rate used for the actuarial valuation changed during the year due to changes in market interest rates. Future salary increment rate
too was revised to fall in line with the increase in market interest rates.

The Bank generally uses the 10-year treasury bond rate as the discount rate. The treasury bond rates increased significantly during the year,
and was around 30% range during the latter part of 2022. The institute of Chartered Accountants of Sri Lanka (CA Sri Lanka) has issued
guidance [via Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) on use of discount rate under the uncertain economic conditions] to consider an adjusted
treasury bond rate as the discount rate for the purpose of the actuarial valuations as at 31st December 2022, on the basis that the current
treasury bond rates do not reflect only the time value of money. Accordingly, an adjusted discount rate was derived by removing a credit
spread from the current treasury bond rate, as per the guidance issued by CA Sri Lanka.

33. CURRENT TAX LIABILITIES 2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
Opening balance as at 1 January 209,403,509 250,041,315
Charge for the year 1,436,875,378 306,239,315
Over provision adjustment in respect of prior years due to rate change (82,678,213) (53,292,314)
Payments (303,608,364) (293,584,807)
Closing balance as at 31 December 1,259.992.310 209,403,509
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Deutsche Bank AG - Colombo Branch

NCTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

34.

34.1

34.2

34.2.1

OTHER LIABILITIES

Financial liabilities
Lease liability (Note 34.1)
Clearing account balance

Non-financial liabilities

Accrued expenditure

Funds Available for capitalization

Provision for Impairment of Commitments and Contingencies (Note 34.2.1)
Country risk (Note 34.3)

Other tax liability

Staff EPF reserve

Other payables

Total

Lease liability

Balance at 1 January
Additions

Charge for the year

Payment during the year
Balance at 31 December
Lease liability within one year
Lease liability after one year

There are no lease liabilities beyond 5 years of tenure.

Provision for impairment commitments and contingencies

2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
318,600,861 7,775,755
286,304,183 67,641.278
604,905,044 75,417,033
351,130.189 125,969,641
504,643,195 -
58,973.160 12,278,382
- 16,444,510
498,646,292 87,930,951
33,083,795 36,268,717
8,366,632 7.306,255
1,454,843,263 286,198,456
2,059.748.307 361,615,489
2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
7.775.755 16,783,877
344,804,264 4,962,103
24,461,254 1,242,551
(58.440,442) (15,212.776)
318.600.861 7.775.755
22,185,946 8,096,388
296,414,915 -
318.600.861 8.096.388

This provision relates to the impairment for undrawn commitments and Off balance sheet facilities computed using the

relevant credit conversion factors.
Movements in impairment during the year

Stage 1

Opening balance as at 1 January
Impairment charge to Income Statement
Closing balance at 31 December

Stage 2

Opening balance as at 1 January
Impairment charge to Income Statement
Closing balance at 31 December

Total
( " Chartereo
. A
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scountants  /

-.‘.
/ Ly
\
A
\ ¥ 3§ -
~ X

N

2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
12,278.382 1.495,462.99
19.295.803 10.782.919.01
31,574.185 12.278.382.00
27.398.975 =
27.398.975
58.975.160 12.278.,382




Deutsche Bank AG - Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

34. OTHER LIABILITIES (Contd...)

34.3  Provision for country risk

Country Risk is defined as the risk that the Branch may suffer a loss due to possible deterioration of economic conditions; political
and social upheaval; nationalization and expropriation of assets; government repudiation of external indebtness; exchange controls

or currency depreciation or devaluation in any given country.

Balance as at 1 January
Impairment charge to Income Statement
Balance as at 31 December

3s. GROUP BALANCE PAYABLE

Inter-entity expenses payable to HO and branches
Branches (Branches of Deutsche Bank AG-Frankfurt)
Total

2022 2021

Rs. Rs.
16,444,510 7,521,773
(16,444,510) 8,922,737
- 16,444,510

2022 2021

Rs. Rs.
626,349,040 3,291,516,386
148,421,428 11,815,026
774.770,468 3,303,331,412

The Branch is supported by the Asia Pacific Head office and other entities within Deutsche Bank Group. The charges for such
services are re-imbursed by Deutsche Bank Colombo, based on invoices issued by the supplier. In order to avoid significant build
up of intercompany liabilities, part of unremitted liabilities were transferred to equity as "Contributed Assets" in 2022,

36. ASSIGNED CAPITAL

Balance as of 1 January
Balance as of 31 December

37. STATUTORY RESERVE FUND

Opening balance at 01January
Transfers during the period

Closing balance at 31 December

2022
Rs.

4,410,461,270

2021
Rs.

4,410,461,270

4,410,461,270 4,410,461,270
2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
837,944,935 793,634,530
125,877,911 44,310,405
963.822.846 837,944,935

37.1 Five percentage (5%) of the Profit after Tax is transferred to the Reserve Fund as per Direction issued by the Central Bank of Sri
Lanka under section 76 (j) (1) of the Banking Act No. 30 of 1988, as amended by Banking (Amendment) Act No.33 of 1995.

38. RETAINED EARNINGS

Opening balance at 1 January
Profit for the year
Net actuarial gain/loss on defied benefit plan
Tax on other comprehensive income
Transfer to/from other reserves
Profit transferred to Head Office (Note 38.1)
Closing balance .'xLBL.L‘DeemnbgL_h

Y Iy, ™

/e —=0up

2022
Rs.

4,026,214,491
3,403,766,320

(5,077,545)

1,523,263

(435,516,459)
(571,703.787)

2021
Rs.

3,181,608,529

886,208,102

3,563,507
(855,242)
(44,310,405)

6.419.206.283

4.026.214.491

38.1 FCBU n,flné prof@Harthesyear énded,31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020 amounting to USD 3. 4 mn has been transferred to

Head OfTi

4r .
w ONE .(.) “

in "(JZE'.'ﬁﬂ&'Tlhniamﬁfapp val from the Central Bank of Sri Lanka and the Department of Inland Revenue.



Deutsche Bank AG - Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2022

39. OTHER RESERVES
For 2022

Exchange equalisation of capital (Note 39.1)
Foreign currency translation reserve (Note 39:2)
Fair value OCI reserve

Reserve through Contributed Assets (Note 39.3)
ECL Reserve (Note 39.4)

Total

For 2021

Exchange equalisation of capital (Note 39.1)
Foreign currency translation reserve (Note 39.2)
Fair value OCI reserve

Reserve through Contributed Assets (Note 39.3)
Total

39.1 Exchange equalisation of capital

Opening Closing
balance as at Movement/ balance as at
01. 01. 2022 SAnSECkS 31.12.2022
665,365,377 1,196,194,939 1,861,560,316
453,621,994 1,179,114,550 1,632,736,544

(25,701,446)
5,618,553,907

2,998,887
3,091,015,532
265,328,143

(22,702,559)
8,709,569,439
265,328,143

6,711:839.831

5,734.652,051—12.446:491.883

Opening Closing
Movement/
balance as at p balance as at
01. 01. 2022 $ERNSISIE 31.12.2022
540,308,638 125,056,739 665,365,377
287,713,637 165,908,357 453,621,994
(22,445,511) (3,255,935) (25,701,446)

5,618,553,907

5,618,553,907

6.424.130,670

287,709,162

6,711,839,831

Exchange equalisation of capital represents the appreciation /depreciation of capital maintained in foreign currency due to exchange
rate fluctuation. The exchange rate fluctuation is being accounted under exchange equalisation of capital.

39.2  Foreign currency translation reserve

Exchange equalisation of reserve represents the effect of currency translation of Income Statement and Reserve Fund.

39.3  Reserve through contributed assets

As explained in note number 35 this is the unremittable head office and other group payables amounting to Rs.3,091,015,532/-
reported during the financial year 2019 to 2021, converted to equity during the financial year 2022 with prior approval of Central
Bank of Sri Lanka.

39.4 ECL Reserve
As per the Banking Act Direction No. 13 of 2021, Licensed banks shall maintain a minimum Stage 1 impairment ratio of 0.5% as a
percentatge of total Stage 1 credit facilities. In instances where a licensed bank does not maintain a minimum Stage 1 impairment ratio
of 0.5% as a percentage of total Stage 1 credit facilities, such deficit shall be required to be maintained in a special reserve account

against equity.
40. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS 2022 2021
Rs. Rs.
Guarantees 42.875,434,314 26,780,234,169
Letters of credit 5,270,051,209 3,255,226,283
Forward exchange contracts 13,522,742,285 14,976,045
Usance Import Bills 2,505,909,287 2,154,370,664
Core accepteance - 77,769,720

Undrawn loan commitments

25,147,769,081

13,368,516,279

Total 89,321,906,175 45,651,093,160
40.1 Movements in impairment during the year
Stage 1
Opening balance as at 1 January 12,278,382 1,495,463
Impairment charge tg L]_J.m.mu&iatument 19,295,803 10,782,919
31,574,185 12,278,382

Closing ba yaﬁ» af 3 lpmmb‘z‘r-
4
Staocz{ Chadesnd \G'

()pcmnc:’J hdianu. a:,..uwt}

Impair mehy charge to Income Stateen
Closing b‘UW‘d:;PWL@j‘V _54-

27,398,975

27,398,975




Deutsche Bank AG - Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Branch carried out transactions in the ordinary course of business on an arm’s length basis at commercial rates with
parties who are defined as Related Parties as per the Sri Lanka Accounting Standard — LKAS 24 — ‘Related Party
Disclosures’.

41.1 Transactions with Key Management Personnel (KMP)

Key Management Personnel (IKMP) are those having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the
activities of the entity as per Sri Lanka Accounting Standard - LKAS 24 on " Related Party Disclosures”. Accordingly, the
branch KMP includes the members of its Branch Management Board (BMB) & selected officers performing executive
functions who meet the above criteria.

For the year ended 31 December

2022 2021

41.1.1 Compensation to KMP Rs. Rs.

Short term employee benefits 233,074,646 136,970,942

Post employment benefits 106,988,807 192,501,678

Termination benefits - -

Share based payments - -
41.1.2 Transactions, arrangements and agreements involving KMP

Lending facilities granted to KMP

Lending facilities granted to KMP 38,327,262 38,926,820

Interest charged on lending facilities granted to KMP 1,343,066 1,465,941

41.1.3 Transactions, arrangements and agreements involving the Close Family Members (CFM) of KMP
CFM of a KMP are those family members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that KMP in their

dealings with the Branch. They may include KMP’s domestic partner and children, children of the KMP domestic partner
and dependents of the KMP or the KMP domestic partner. CFM are related parties to the Branch.

There are no transactions reported during the reporting period related to close family members.

41.1.4 No impairment losses have been recorded against balances outstanding during the period with key management personnel,
and no specific allowance has been made for impairment losses on balances with key management personnel at the
reporting date.

41.2 Transactions and balances with Group entities

41.2.1 Transactions with Deutsche Bank Group
The Branch engages in Inter-Group Borrowings and Lendings, derivative financial instruments with Group Entities,
Transfer Pricing Fees receivable from Group Entities, sale or purchase of Investment Securities in between group entities,

and the Branch's Provident Fund.

Amount receivable and payable from/to Group entities disclosed in Notes 20 and 35.
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Deutsche Bank AG - Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Contd...)
41.2.1 Transactions with Deutsche Bank Group (Contd...)
As at December 2022 2021

Rs. Rs.
Statement of Financial Position

Placement with branches 6,101,049,045 5,978,294,374
Derivative financial instruments - assets 48,544,177 2,436,665
Group balance receivable

Branches (Branches of Deutsche Bank AG-Frankfurt) 909,532,959 2,477,007,617

Other Inter-group receivable from Branches and Head Office 286,408,407 256,477,547
Due to branches 8,044,569,488 11,902,146,722
Derivative financial instruments - liabilities 90,365,580 2,456,987
Group balance payable

Inter-entity expenses payable to HO and branches 626,349,040 3,291,516,386

Branches (Branches of Deutsche Bank AG-Frankfurt) 148,421,428 11,815,026
Contingent liabilities and commitments 23,706,100,534 18,170,572,777
For the year ended 31 December 2022 2021

Rs. Rs.

Income statement
Interest income 124,218,599 5,409,845
Interest expense 204,391,751 204,510,352
Other income (84,711,372) 123,098,219
Other operating expenses 870,057,203 982,004,721

41.2.2 Balances with the Employee's provident fund

According to Sri Lanka Accounting Standard LKAS 24 “Related Party Disclosures”, a party is related to the entity if, the
entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefits of employees of the entity.

As at December 2022 2021

Rs. Rs.
Statement of Financial Position
Financial liabilities at amortized cost - Due to Depositors 33,858,500 12,213,205
For the year ended 31 December 2022 2021

Rs. Rs.

Income statement
Other operating expenses 226,636 139,780
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Deutsche Bank AG - Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

43.

43.1

ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY MEASUREMENT BASIS

Analysis of financial instruments by measurement basis

The following table provides a reconciliation between line items in the statement of financial position and categories of financial instruments of

the Branch.
As at 31 December 2022

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Balances with Central Bank

Placements with banks

Placements with branches

Derivative financial instruments

Financial assets at amortized cost - Loans and advances to
customers

Financial assets at amortized cost — Debt and other instruments

Financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI)

Group balances receivables

Other assets

Total financial assets

Financial liabilities

Due to Banks

Due to branches

Derivative financial instruments

Financial liabilities at amortized cost - Due to depositors
Group balance payable

Other liabilities

Total financial liabilities

As at 31 December 2021

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Balances with Central Bank

Placements with banks

Placements with branches

Derivative financial instruments

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss
(FVTPL)

Financial assets at amortized cost - Loans and advances to
customers

Financial assets at amortized cost — Debt and other instruments
Financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI)

Group balances receivables

Other assets

Total financial assets

Financial liabilities

Due to Banks

Due to branches

Derivative financial instruments

Financial liabilities at amortized cost - Due to depositors
Group balance payable

Other liabilities

AC FVTPL FVOCI Total
Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.
13,452,453,241 - - 13,452,453,241
17.868.618.357 - - 17.868.618.357
6,101,049,045 - - 6,101,049,045
- 48,544,177 - 48,544,177
26,839,735,777 - - 26,839,735,777
7,547,678,250 - - 7,547,678,250
- - 42,338,984 42,338,984
1,195,941,366 - - 1,195,941,366
1,565,167,784 - - 1,565,167,784
74,570,643,820 48,544,177 42,338,984 74,661,526,981
AC FVTPL Total
Rs. Rs. Rs.
3,013,133 - 3,013,133
8,044,569,488 - 8,044,569,488
- 90,365,580 90,365,580
38,856,513,092 - 38,856,513,092
774,770,468 - 774,770,468
604,905,044 - 604,905,044
48,283,771,225 90,365,580 48,374,136,805
AC FVTPL FVOCI Total
Rs. Rs. Rs. Rs.
156,557,638 - - 156,557,638
5,903,034,494 - - 5,903,034,494
7,995,600,658 B - 7,995,600,658
5,978,294,374 - - 5,978,294,374
- 48,544,177 - 48,544,177
27,247,307,757 - - 27,247,307,757
3,830,911,957 - - 3,830,911,957
- - 1,123,699,484 1,123,699,484
2,733,485,164 - - 2,733,485,164
407,561,876 - - 407,561,876
54,252,753,917 48,544,177 1,123,699,484 55,424,997,578
AC FVTPL Total
Rs. Rs. Rs.
1,088,297 - 1,088,297
11,902,146,722 - 11,902,146,722
= 2,456,987 2,456,987
24,386,640,445 - 24,386,640,445
3,303,331,412 - 3,303,331,412
75,417,033 - 75,417,033
39,668,623,909 2,456,987 39,671,080,896




Deutsche Bank AG - Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

43.

43.2

43.2.1

ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY MEASUREMENT BASIS (Contd...)

Valuation framework

The Branch has an established control framework for the measurement of fair values. This framework includes a separate
control function within Market Risk Management, which is independent of front office management in reporting to the
Branch Management Board (BMB) of the Branch. The BMB has overall responsibility for independently verifying the
results of operations and all significant fair value measurements.

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value and fair value hierarchy

The following table provides an analysis of Assets and Liabilities measured at fair value as at the Reporting date, by the
level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorised. These amounts were based on the
values recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.

As at 31 December 2022 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets
Derivative financial instruments - 48,544,177 - 48,544,177

Financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income

Treasury Bills - - - E
Equity securities - . 42,338,984 42,338,984
Total financial assets - 48,544,177 42,338,984 90,883,161
Financial liabilities

Derivative financial instruments - 90,365,580 - 90,365,580
Total financial liabilities - 90,365,580 - 90,365,580
As at 31 December 2021 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Financial assets
Derivative financial instruments - 2,436,665 - 2,436,665

Financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income

Treasury Bills 1,081,360,500 - - 1,081,360,500
Equity securities - - 42,338,984 42,338,984
Total financial assets 1,081.360.500 2,436,665 42,338,984 1,126,136,149

Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments - 2,456,987 - 2,456,987
Total financial liabilities - 2,456,987 - 2,456,987

Financial instruments not measured at fair value and fair value hierarchy

Methodologies and assumptions used to determine fair value of financial instruments, which are not already recorded at fair
value in the Statement of Financial Position, are as follows:

Fixed rate financial instruments

The fair value of fixed-rate Financial Assets and Liabilities carried at amortised cost (e.g. fixed rate loans and advances,
due to other.custemers, subordinate liabilities) are estimated based on the Discounted Cash Flow approach. This approach
em }GW thc'cu_i‘r_g__l'mar S interest rates of similar financial instruments as a significant unobservable input in measuring

thiy I.nr value and hence- 1t“<‘a1. tegorised under Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.
Chartered
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Deutsche Bank AG - Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

43. ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY MEASUREMENT BASIS (Contd...)
43.3 Valuation Techniques and Inputs in Measuring Fair Values

The table below provides information on the valuation techniques and inputs used in measuring the fair values of Derivative
Financial Assets and Liabilities in the Level 2 and unquoted shares in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as given in Note
43.2 above.

Fair Value as at

Type of Financial Significant

Valuation Techni
Instruments &l Beeeriber e Valuation Inputs
2022
Rs.
Derivative Financial Assets 48,544,177 Adjusted Forward Rate Approach -Spot exchange rate

This approach considers the present value -Interest rate

of projected forward exchange rate as at differentials between
Derivative Financial Liabilities 90,365,580 the Reporting date, as the fair value. The currencies under

said forward rate is projected based on the consideration

spot exchange rate and the forward

premium/discount  calculated  using

extrapolated interest rates of the currency

pairs under consideration. In computing

the present value, interest rate differential

between two currencies under

consideration is used as the discount rate.

Unquoted Shares 42,338,984 The unquoted shares, which are held for Net book value per

regulatory purposes, are valued based on share

internal management information derived

from the audited financial statements

based on the net asset value of the

investee, which is a significant

unobservable input in measuring the fair

value and hence it is categorized under

level 3 in the fair value hierarchy.

43.4 Reconciliation of Level 3 Fair Value

The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances for Level 3 fair values.

Unquoted Equity
Securities

Rs.
Balance as at 1 January 2022 42,338,984
Gain included in OCI
- Net change in fair value (unrealized) =
Balance as at 31 December 2022 42,338,984
Balance as at 1 January 2021 42,338,984
Gain included in OCI
- Net change in fair v unrealized) =

42.338.984

Balance as ;_‘t'f:s;{ I_%cfrﬂfi@" p

I e
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Deutsche Bank AG - Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

44, FINANCIAL RISK REVIEW
44.1 Key types of Risks
The Branch has exposure to the following key risks from financial instruments:

Credit Risk
Liquidity risk

Marketl risk — ——— 1

Operational Risk

44.1.1 Credit risk
Credit risk arises from all transactions where actual, contingent or potential claims against any counterparty, borrower or

obligor (which is referred to collectively as “counterparties”) exist, including those claims that DB Colombo plans to
distribute

The below dimensions are the key drivers for credit risk:

| Risk ||Risk definition |
Counterparty risk Risk that counterparties fail to meet contractual obligations
Country risk Risk that Deutsche Bank Colombo Branch may suffer a loss due to possible deterioration of

economic conditions; political and social upheaval; nationalization and expropriation of assets;
government repudiation of external debt indebtedness; exchange controls or currency
depreciation or devaluation in any given country.

Industry risk Risk of adverse developments in the operating environment for a specific industry segment
leading to a deterioration in the financial profile of counterparties operating in that segment and
resulting in increased CR across this portfolio of counterparties.

Product risk Risk driven by the underlying structure and economic dependencies of the product in question
and can include factors such as tenor, recovery expectations and likelihood of having an exposure
at the time of a default. Also includes "settlement risk" arising from the non-simultaneous transfer
of cash or securities due to the settlement or clearance of trades.

44.1.1.1 Credit risk stress testing

Credit risk stress tests of economic capital and also local regulatory demand are based on Group Credit Risk Stress Test
methodology (Global Downturn or another macroeconomic stress scenario). The results are provided by Group on a
quarterly basis in a standard template. In general, legal entity stress test can be performed using the group-allocated view
or the standalone view. In the former case, one considers transactions of the legal entity towards DB group as risk free,
whereas in the latter case, only transactions within the legal entity are considered as risk free. Deviations from the
provided credit risk stress tests required to reflect local specifics or local regulatory requirements have to be approved by
the Group.

The stress on local credit risk regulatory capital is calculated locally. For this purpose, the specifically calculated rating
migration matrix (based on the Global Downturn Scenario or another macroeconomic stress scenario) provided by Group
is applied to the local rated portfolio. The migration matrix is an output from the Group Credit Stress Test (GCST), which
is the macroeconomic downturn (as mentioned above) applied on the bank’s credit portfolio using the internal EC model
to calculate rating downgrade impact. By applying regulatory risk weights to the exposure of the derived portfolio,
stressed RWA are calculated.

—
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Deutsche Bank AG - Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

44, FINANCIAL RISK REVIEW (Contd...)
44.1.1 Credit risk (Cont...)

44.1.1.2 Maximum Exposure

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period, without taking into consideration any collateral

held or other credit enhancements, is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the Statement of

Financial Position after deducting any impairment allowance. A summary of the maximum exposure is as follows:

Total gross credit risk exposures broken down by major types of credit exposure.
As at 31 December
On-balance sheet items

Cash and cash equivalents

Balances with Central Bank

Placements with banks

Placements with branches

Group balances receivable

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
Financial assets at amortized cost - Loans and advances to customers
Financial assets at amortized cost - Debt and other instruments

Financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income
(FVOCI)
Other assets

2022

13,363,618,279
17,868,618,357

6,101,049,045
1,195,941,366

26,864,029,676
7,547,678,250

42,338,984

952,514,890

2021

86,514,234
5,904,723,543
8,001,293,151
5,978,294,374
2,733,485,164

27,256,636,984
4,158,965,232

1,123,699,484

407,561,876

Total on-balance sheet items

73,935,788,847

55,651,174,041

Off-balance sheet items

Guarantees

Letters of credit

Forward exchange contracts
Usance Import Bills

Core acceptance

Undrawn loan commitments

42,875,434,314
5,270,051,209
13,522,742,285
2,505,909,287

25,147,769,081

26,780,234,169
3,255,226,283
14,976,045
2,154,370,664
77,769,720
13,368,516,279

Total off-balance sheet items

89,321,906,176

45,651,093,161

Accountants
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Deutsche Bank AG - Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022
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FINANCIAL RISK REVIEW (Contd...)

Credit risk (Cont...)

Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the Statement of Financial Position
when, and only when the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle
them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk arising from the potential inability to meet all payment obligations when they fall due or
only being able to meet these obligations at excessive costs. The objective of the Group’s liquidity risk management
framework is to ensure that the Group can fulfil its payment obligations at all times and can manage liquidity and funding
risks within its Board-approved risk appetite. The framework considers all relevant and significant drivers of liquidity risk,
whether on-balance sheet or off-balance sheet.

Management of liquidity risk

The Branch’s Management sets the Bank’s strategy for managing liquidity risk, and oversight of the implementation is
administered by Assets and Liability Management Committee (ALCO). ALCO approves the Branch’s liquidity policies and
procedures. Treasury manages the Branch’s liquidity position on a day-to-day basis and reviews daily reports covering the
liquidity position of the Branch. A summary report, including any exceptions and remedial action taken, is submitted to
ALCO meetings on ad hoc when predefined thresholds are breached.

The Branch’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to
meet its liabilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or
risking damage to the Bank’s reputation. The key elements of the Branch’s liquidity strategy are as follows:

- Monitoring maturity mismatches, behavioural characteristics of the Branch’s financial assets and financial
liabilities, and the extent to which the Branch’s assets are encumbered and so not available as potential collateral
for obtaining funding.

- Monitoring the Branch’s liquidity through the Liquid Assets Ratio (statutory minimum is currently 20%) and
Liquidity Coverage Ratio using a stock approach.

- Effecting threshold limits relevant for liquidity management as part of the overall risk limits system of the Branch.

- Carrying a portfolio of highly liquid assets, diversified by currency and maturity.
Liquidity risk stress testing

DB Colombo is fully integrated into the Group’s liquidity risk management framework, and as such performs liquidity stress
tests on a regular basis. The stress test framework is derived from DB’s global stress testing framework, and adjusted to

cover local market peculiarities, where necessary.

Liquidity stress test results are computed by Liquidity and Treasury Reporting and Analysis (LTRA) team. Stress models and
parameters are adjusted to cover local market and product specifications, which are reviewed and validated by APAC
Liquidity Risk Management (LRM) in its capacity as an independent risk unit, and approved at the local ALCO.

Stress tests results are discussed regularly in the local ALCO, where local Branch Management Board (BMB) members are
also members of ALCO. Liquidity stress testing models (including all applicable assumptions) are reviewed regularly to
ensure that all stress parameters are sufficiently severe and remain relevant to DB Colombo. Any changes in liquidity stress
testing models/assumptions are subject to ALCO and APAC LRM (Liquidity Risk Management) team’s approval prior to the
implementation.

-
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Deutsche Bank AG - Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022
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FINANCIAL RISK REVIEW (Contd...)
Liquidity Risk (Contd...)

Exposure to liquidity risk — Regulatory liquidity

As at 31 December
Exposure to liquidity risk — Regulatory liquidity

Statutory Liquid Assets Ratio (SLAR)
- Domestic Banking unit
- Off-Shore Banking unit

Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR)
- All Currency
- Rupee

Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR)

Minimum Requirement

2022

20%
20%

100%
100%

100%

2021

20%
20%

100%
100%

100%

Actual

2022

95%
68%

312%
825%

130%

2021

74%
73%

147%
246%

133%

Details of the reported LAR of liquid assets to external liabilities of the Domestic Banking Unit (DBU) and the Off-shore Banking Centre(OBC)

as at reporting dates are as follows:

As at 31 December

Average for the period
Maximum for the period
Minimum for the period
Statutory minimum requirement

Key measures of liquidity

Net loans to total assets

Loans to customer deposits

Liquid assets to short term liabilities

Commitments to Liquid assets

Liquidity reserves

Domestic Banking Unit

2022

94.78%
77.32%
94.78%
61.14%
20.00%

The following table sets out the components of the Branch’s liquidity reserves

As at 31 December

Cash and cash equivalents
Balances with Central Bank
Placements with Banks
Placements with Branches

Unencumbered debt securities issued by sovereigns

- Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss
(FVTPL)

- Financial assets at amortized cost — Debt and other
instruments

- Financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI)

Total liquidity reserves

The Brnm.h ctpn.C[L
lm!m.l,étﬁrrtn arta

lows:

)

E dL.111.uYﬂ'

-72-

2022

Carrying value
Rs.

13,452,453,241
17,868,618,357

6,101,049,045

7,547,678,250

42,338,984

2021
73.89%
82.60%

106.20%

66.88%
20.00%

Fair value
Rs.

13,452,453,241
17,868,618,357

6,101,049,045

7,547,678,250

42,338,984

Off-shore Banking Centre
2022 2021
68.26% 72.86%
85.22% 66.48%
133.26% 95.75%
67.52% 47.04%
20.00% 20.00%
2022 2021
36% 49%
69% 112%
144% 172%
35% 89%
2021
Carrying value Fair value
Rs. Rs.
156,557,638 156,557,638
5,903,034,494 5,903,034,494
7,995,600,658 7,995,600,658
5,978,294,374 5,978,294,374
4,158,965,232 9,330,228,408

1,123,699,484

1,123,699,484

45,012,137.877

45,012.137.877

25.316,151,879

30,487,415,056

mf" frnm uhlurr‘uq are expected to remain stable or increase;
1S E’ Iu.m comin mna’mﬁ are not all expected to be drawn down immediately.

-4sh flows on some financial assets and financial liabilities vary significantly from the contractual cash flows. The
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Deutsche Bank AG - Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

44.

44.1.3

44.1.3.1

44.1.3.2

FINANCIAL RISK REVIEW (Contd...)
Market Risk

Market Risk arises from the uncertainty concerning changes in market prices and rates (including interest rates, equity

prices, foreign exchange rates and commodity prices), the correlations among them and their levels of volatility. Four

different risks are considered by Market Risk management:

Traded market risk  Risk that involves taking positions in debt, equity, foreign exchange, other securities and
commodities as well as in equivalent derivatives.

Non traded market  Risk arising from market movements in the banking book and from off balance sheet items
risk

Traded default risk  Risk that arises from defaults and rating migrations relating to trading instruments

Interest rate riskin  Risk to present values arising from adverse movements in underlying interest rates in the
the branch book banking book.

Market Risk Mitigation

It is the responsibility of each trading desk and business unit to manage their risk exposures, adhere to the approved
exposure limits and hence to mitigate market risks appropriately. This can be achieved by using different hedging
techniques to reduce relevant exposure. The ultimate responsibility for implementing any required hedging strategy
lies with individual business unit management or, in the case of macro-hedges, with central management. Market Risk
Management (MRM) can undertake a review of the hedging strategies that are put in place in order to ensure that the
risks of the underlying exposures and the hedging positions are fully understood and adequately represented in the
systems.

Market risk stress testing

Stress testing is a key risk management technique, which evaluates the potential effects of extreme market events and
extreme movements in individual risk factors. It is one of the core quantitative tools used to assess the market risk of
the Bank’s positions and its primary application is within the EC framework. The scenario-based approach in stress
testing is complementary to statistical model approaches, as for VaR. Group MRM performs several types of stress
testing to capture the variety of risks: individual business-level stress tests, MRM portfolio stress testing (e.g. Portfolio
Stress Testing (PST), Event Risk Scenarios (ERS), and Group-wide stress testing).

: Cha rMeren
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44.

44.1.3.3

FINANCIAL RISK REVIEW (Contd...)

Market Risk (Contd...)

The Branch employs a range of tools to monitor and limit market risk exposures. These are discussed below, separately for

trading and non-trading portfolios.

The following table sets out the allocation of assets and liabilities subject to market risk between trading and non-trading

portfolios.
As at 31 December 2022

Assets subject to market risk

Cash and cash equivalents

Balances with Central Bank

Placements with branches

Derivative Financial Assets

Financial assets at amortized cost - Loans and advances to
customers

Financial assets at amortized cost — Debt and other
instruments

Financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI)

Group balance receivable

Liabilities subject to market risk

Due to banks

Due to Branches

Derivative financial instruments

Financial liabilities at amortized cost - Due to Depositors
Group Balance Payable

As at 31 December 2021

Assets subject to market risk

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Balances with Central Bank of Sri Lanka
Placements with Banks

Placements with Branches

Derivative Financial Assets

Financial assets at amortized cost - Loans and advances to
customers

Financial assets at amortized cost — Debt and other
instruments

Financial assets measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI)

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss
Group balance receivable

Liabilities subject to market risk

Due to banks

Due to anem-_\
D ‘xﬁ’w_ﬁnﬁgﬂ’} 1ents
fm Cial Eg\almu at an{. ed cost - Due to Depositors

abl \
mﬂp w\‘- ’ ;
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Carrying
amount
Rs.

13,452,453,241
17,868,618,357
6,101,049,045
48,544,177

26,864,029,676
7,547,678,250

42,338,984
1,195,941,366

3,013,133
8,044,569,488
90,365,580
38,856,513,092
774,770,468

156,557,638
5,904,723,543
7.995,600,658
5,978,294,374

2,436,665

27,256,636,984
4,158,965,232

1,123,699,484

2,733,485,164

1,088,297
11,902,146,722
2,456,987
24,386,640.445
3,303,331,412

Market risk measure

Trading
portfolio
Rs.

48,544,177

90,365,580

2,436,665

2,456,987

Non-trading
portfolio
Rs.

13,452,453,241
17,868,618,357
6,101,049,045

26,864,029,676
7,547,678,250

42,338,984
1,195,941,366

3,013,133
8,044,569,488
38,856,513,092
774,770,468

156,557,638
5,904,723,543
7,995,600,658
5,978,294,374

27,256,636,984
4,158,965,232

1,123,699,484

2,733,485.164

1,088,297
11,902,146,722
24,386,640,445

3,303,331,412
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44,

44.1.4

FINANCIAL RISK REVIEW (Contd...)
Macroeconomic and market conditions

Global Economy

Deutsche Bank’s macroeconomic, business, and operating environment has improved over the course of 2022 as the global economy experienced a strong
recovery from the pandemic recession despite Russia’s large-scale military action against Ukraine, and the West’s severe sanctions response against
Russia had significant negative economic consequences, not only for the Russian economy, but for Asia too. The war’s outbreak in late February severely
disrupted global economic conditions. Shockwaves have been felt in financial and commodity markets, and energy and food prices have spiked sharply
and threaten to remain elevated or rise further.

The price of Brent Crude oil has risen over USD 100 per barrel (in mid-2022) and the price of gold has risen as well, as investors seek out safe haven
assets. Supply chainsareaiso-likely to-bedisrupted-as-aTesultof theconflagrationRussia's exports to the EUaccount for 27%of total Russian-exports:
China is responsible for around half of that, Russia is a major source of natural gas and oil. Russia and Ukraine contribute to one-fourth of global wheat
supplies, Furthermore, Russia is a major supplier of industrial metals to the rest of the globe.

In the latest International Monetary Fund (IMF) predictions, the outlook for global growth was trimmed by 0.2 percentage points, while the forecast for
the eurozone was revised down dramatically to 0.5% from 1.2%. Global growth is expected to decline to 3.2% in 2022 and 2.7% in 2023, falling from
6.0% in 2021. This is the weakest growth profile since 2001, except for the global financial crisis and the acute phase of the COVID-19 pandemic.
Furthermore, it forecasts sluggish global GDP in 2023, focusing on three issues: high inflation and central bank tightening, Russia's invasion of Ukraine,
and the ongoing effects of Covid, particularly in China. Weak global demand was seen as the biggest challenge for businesses to overcome in 2023,
followed by the high cost of borrowing, high input costs and talent shortages. Geopolitical trends continue to dominate thinking, being cited as the top
factor shaping global economic activity in the year ahead.

Asian Economy

Asia's economic recovery in 2022 was affected by weaker-than-expected GDP growth in a number of Asian economies and a more severe and prolonged
COVID-19 impact. While Asia remains a relative bright spot in an increasingly lethargic global economy, it is expected to expand at a rate that is well
below the average rate of 5% percent seen over the preceding two decades.

Three main headwinds continue to hamper recovery in developing Asia: recurrent lockdowns in the People’s Republic of China (PRC), the Russian
invasion of Ukraine, and slowing global growth. Growth forecasts for the region are revised down from 4.3% to 4.2% in 2022 and from 4.9% to 4.6% in
2023. Regional inflation forecasts are revised down slightly for 2022 from 4.5% to 4.4% but upgraded for 2023 from 4.0% to 4.2%. Even with the
deteriorating outlook, developing Asia will grow more than other regions and suffer less inflation than most.

Sri Lankan Economy

The entire political and socioeconomic landscape of Sri Lanka experienced extreme volatility with continuously changing conditions. Following the credit
rating downgrades, Sri Lanka lost access to global financial markets in 2020, This led to a scrious foreign exchange liquidity crisis, which resulted in Sri
Lanka's announcement of a suspension of external debt service in April 2022,

Without market access, Sri Lanka continued to service its external debt until the suspension and pay for imports using official reserves and loans from the
banking sector. Official reserves dropped from US$7.6 billion in 2019 to less than US$400 million (excluding a currency swap equivalent to US$1.5
billion with China) in June 2022. Net foreign assets in the banking system also fell to US$ -5.9 billion in June 2022. This severe forex liquidity constraint
has been felt across the economy, particularly from the second quarter of 2022, with shortages of fuel, medicines, cooking gas, and inputs necded for
economic activity.

Due to this circumstance, the banking sector of the country experienced additional effects such as challenges in assisting customer import purchases,
which resulted in low trade volumes, high interest rates, and hyperinflation that negatively impacted customer profit margins and credit quality of the
industry.

The real GDP of Sri Lanka is anticipated to drop 9.2 percent in 2022 and another 4.2 percent in 2023. Inflationary pressures increased in 2022 as a result
of both supply and demand factors. Interest rates have gradually climbed in reaction to these inflationary pressures, and this trend is expected to continue
in the near future. Year-on-year inflation reached an unprecedented 59.2 percent in December 2022, due largely to high food inflation of 59.3 percent.
This represents the impact of growing global commodity prices, fiscal deficit monetization, and currency depreciation. The ban on fertilizers in 2021, as
well as the subsequent impact on crop yields, has had an influence on domestic food supplies, agricultural earnings, and food security. Between January
and July 2022, the central bank raised policy rates by a cumulative 950 basis points to curb inflation.

The growth outlook is subject to high uncertainty and will depend on the progress in fiscal consolidation, debt restructuring, and growth enhancing
structural reforms. Despite tighter monetary policy, inflation is anticipated to stay high. Consolidation measures are expected to steadily reduce the fiscal
deficit over the medium term. Import compression is intended to reduce the current account deficit. To close the external finance shortfall in 2023 and
beyond, additional resources will be required

The Russian Invasion of Ukraine — implications for Sri Lanka

A global economic recovery from the pandemic has been made more difficult by the Russian-Ukrainian crisis, as stockpiling and rising inflation have
added to the existing troubles

Despite all the economic difficulties and political instability, Sri Lanka ended 2022 with almost 720 thousand tourist arrivals, which is 207% more than in
2021. However, 2022 figures were 69% down from the record of 2,3 million in 2018. Due to the Russian invasion of Ukraine, tourist arrivals from
Ukraine (an emerging source market) are projecled to be negatively affected in 2022. Despite, Russia showed the best dynamics of tourist arrivals, and
eventually is on the second line (91 272 visits), In recent years, Russia has been the top source market of tourist arrivals, and expected impact for tourism
industry by the war was not that reflective in records. However, the economic sanctions imposed on Russia by the US and its allies had a negative impact
on Sti Lanka/sexports. iLly tea exports) to Russia in 2022
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Deutsche Bank AG - Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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44. FINANCIAL RISK REVIEW (Contd...)

44.1.4 Macroeconomic and market conditions (contd.)

COVID 19 pandemic

In early 2022, the COVID-19 pandemic remained a tangible downside risk to our business. Although vaccination rates in many emerging markets
continue to lag behind, and developed markets continue to face vaccine hesitancy in significant parts of their populations, the effects have subsided as
global vaccination rates have consistently increased and new antiviral drugs have become available, which should limit the number of severe illnesses and
deaths, As a result, the timing and strength of economic recoveries are continuing to vary from country to country,

Liguidity-and funding risks e

In terms of liquidity, the Branch ensured that it maintained adequate funds over and above the minimum requirement mandated by CBSL to meet
regulatory as well as customer requirements. The Statutory Reserve Requirement as mandated by Section 93 of the Monetary Law Act as of 31 December
2022 was 4.0% (2021 - 4.0%) of the Domestic Banking Unit's Rupee liabilities. There is no reserve requirement for the Domestic Banking Unit's foreign
currency deposit liabilities

The Branch's Asset and Liability Management Policy addresses internal control processes and contingency measures for managing liquidity risk. This
comprises an assessment of expected cash flows as well as the availability of liquid capital that could be deployed if necessary.

Risk management policies, procedures and methods as well as operational risks

Although we have devoted significant resources to develop our risk management policies, procedures and methods, including with respect to market,
credit, liquidity, operational as well as reputational and model risk, they may not be fully effective in mitigating our risk exposures in all economic or
market environments or against all types of risk, including risks that we fail to identify or anticipate. Where we use these models to calculate risk-
weighted assets for regulatory purposes, potential deficiencies may also lead regulators to impose a recalibration of input parameters or a complete review
of the model.

We may face operational risks arising from failures in our internal control environment or errors in the performance of our processes, e.g. in transaction
processing, as well as loss of business continuity, which may disrupt our business and lead to material losses. At the same time, we may also face risks of
material losses or reputational damage if services third parties facilitate are not provided as agreed or in line with our internal standards.

From an operational perspective, and despite the business continuity and crisis management policies currently in place, the COVID-19 pandemic, the
emergence of new variants of the virus and resulting rapid changes in government responses may continue to have an adverse impact on our business
activities and control environment. The continuing move across global industries to conduct business from home and away from primary office locations,
is driving a more accelerated evolution of business practices compared to historic trends. The demand on our technology infrastructure and the risk of
cyber-attacks could lead to technology failures, security breaches, unauthorized access, loss or destruction of data or unavailability of services, as well as
increase the likelihood of conduct breaches,

In order to manage financial and non-financial risk impacts of COVID-19 and present economic climate of the country, Branch is utilizing dedicated
governance structures including Global and Regional Crisis Management. More broadly and where relevant, additional controls and processes have been
established including additional reporting to ensure relevant senior stakeholders. We expect a demanding year 2023 from a risk management perspective

Impact on Impairment

Based on Management’s opinion that the standard methodology did not provide a reliable indicator for future credit losses as it took a very short-term
view of the development of those variables and considering regulatory guidance provided, Management determined that the most representative approach
in 2022 for estimating expected credit losses was to reduce the weight of some of the short-term data and derive adjusted inputs based on longer term
averages. As a result, the Branch viewed it more appropriate to apply an overlay during 2022 to ensure its ECL provision was adequate.

The overlay is based on averaging forecasts for GDP, interest rates, inflation, exchange rates and unemployment rates over the next five years in its ECL
estimation, which is the basis for the bank’s year end 2022 Credit Loss Allowance. The forward-looking information is derived from broader consensus
and market- implied projections as aggregated, expanded and quality-assured within Risk Management. The Branch has reviewed the forward-looking
indicators used in the calculation of the impairment charges and concluded that these indicators are reasonable in the context of the Branch's credit
portfolio and overall risk profile.

44.1.5 Foreign currency exposure risk

As at 31 December 2022 2021

Net exposure - USD equivalent 17,353,521 35,633,592
Value of position in LKR 6,368,742,029 7,215,802,369
Exchange rate (USD/LKR) as at 31 December 367.00 202,50
Possible potential foreign currency risk to Bank

- If exchange rate (USD/LKR) depreciates by 5% - LKR 318,437,101 360,790,118
- Ife\change rate (USD/LKR) depreciates by 10% - LKR 636,874,203 721,580,237
-Ifexc Wl ) depreciates by 25% - LKR 1,592,185,507 1,803,950,592

it cciates by 5% - LKR (318,437,101) (360,790,118)
M$61JJ1H J J&Q{] KR)‘mpr ciates by 10% - LKR (636,874,203) (721,580,237)
-1 \lep% r'm. ngl JKR)‘apprgciates by 25% - LKR (1,592,185,507)  (1,803,950.592)
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45.

46.

47.

CAPITAL ADEQUACY

Capital Adequacy is a measure of the Branch's financial strength expressed as a ratio of its capital to its risk weighted assets. The
Central Branch of Sri Lanka has specified the minimum capital requirements for Branch's, which operate as a limiting factor on
creation of risk-associated assets by Branch. Under this requirement there is a universally accepted risk measurement framework
and minimum capital levels to be maintained by Branch.

The Central Bank of Sri Lanka sets and monitors regulatory capital requirements on both consolidated and solo basis. The Branch
is-required to-comply with-the provisions—of the Basel Il requirements-in-respect of regulatory capital commencing from July
2017. The Branch currently uses the standardised approach for credit risk and market risk and basic indicator approach for
operational risk.

The Basel III capital regulations, which are currently in force, will continue to be based on the three-mutually reinforcing Pillars
introduced under Basel II, minimum capital requirement, supervisory review process and market discipline. Basel III focuses on
increasing the quality and quantity of capital especially the Core Capital, through redefining the common equity capital and
introducing new capital buffers such as the Capital Conservation Buffer and a Capital Surcharge on domestic systematically
important banks. Branch started reporting capital computations under the Basel III requirements from mid 2017 as per the
regulatory requirements.

Regulatory capital comprises Tier 1 capital and Tier 2 capital. The Branch’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to
ensure investor, creditor, and market confidence to sustain future development of the business. The Branch has complied with the
minimum capital requirements imposed by the Central Bank of Sri Lanka throughout the year.

NON - CASH ITEMS INCLUDED IN PROFIT BEFORE TAX 2022 2021
Rs. Rs.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 119,017,430 79,349,619
Write off of Assets 1,950,466 -
Reversal/(charge) of Impairment losses on loans and advances 14,964,672 4,931,982
(Charge)/reversal of Impairment losses on FVTOCI - -
Off balance sheet impairment 19,295,803 10,782,919
Reversal of Impairment losses on Placements 8,575,682 6,702,001
Provision for Country risk (16,444,510) 8,922,737
Charge for defined benefit plans 12,535,707 10,675,669
Tax credits (99,885,578) -
Inter-entity Expense 870,057,203 982,004,721
Net Unrealized Forward Exchange Loss 41,769,516 (21,801,182)

971,836,391 1,081,568,466
CHANGE IN OPERATING ASSETS 2022 2021

Rs. Rs.

Change in derivative financial instruments 4,337,996 (55,003,695)
Change in balance with Central Bank 11,965,583,863 1,266,183,075
Change in financial assets at amortized cost - Debt and other instruments 3,716,766,293 (5,443,623,598)
Change in placement with banks (8,004,176,340) 7,988,898,657
Change in placements with branches 122,754,671 (5,136,736,501)

Change in group balance receivable
Change in financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

(1,537,543,798)

(967,521,268)
(8,640,539,060)

Change in financial assets at amortized cost - Loans and Advances (422,536,652) 7,939,688,990
Change in financial assets measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (1,081,360,500)  (4,342,708,573)
(FVOCI)

Change in other assets 540,640,240 418,255,567
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48,

49,

50.

S1.

CHANGE IN OPERATING LIABILITIES 2022 2021
Rs. Rs.

Change in due to banks 1,924,836 (114,485,128)
Change in financial liabilities at amortized cost - Due to Depositors 14,469,872,647  (6,136,493,215)
Change in due to branches (3,857,577,234) (3,421,256,435)
Change in other liabilities 1,682,716,206 114,956,732
Change in due to Group balance (307,602,615) 23,640,471
Derivative financial instruments 87,908,593 (98,593,957)

12,077,242,433  (9,632,231,532)

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE

There are no circumstances that have arisen since the reporting date which would require adjustments to, or disclosure in
the Financial Statements except for the events disclosed in Note 23.2 to the Financial Statements.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

There were no material Capital Commitments as at the reporting date, which require disclosures in the Financial
Statements.

LITIGATION AND CLAIMS

Litigation is a common occurrence in the banking industry due to the nature of the business. The Branch has an
established protocol for dealing with such legal claims. The Branch has below pending legal claims which the Branch
does not expect cash outflows from.

Customs inquiry - CBCU/2008/16

This inquiry was commenced by Sri Lanka Customs against Prima Ceylon Limited, JRS Shipping Limited, Hatton
National Bank PLC and Deutsche Bank AG ("the Bank") in relation to the importation of 72,000 MT of wheat into Sri
Lanka. The specific charge against the Branch is in relation to the purportedly fraudulent endorsing of commercial
invoices for the importation of 29, 042 MT of wheat into Sri Lanka.

However, by way of letter dated 26 July 2019, Sri Lanka Customs called upon the Branch to show cause as to why the
above mentioned forfeiture should not be imposed upon the Branch. Branch responded thereto, objecting to the issue of
the purported show cause letter and the purported appointment of the new inquiring officer, by way of letter dated 26
August 2019.

Sri Lanka Customs has not responded to the said letter dated 26 August 2019 to date and no further steps have been taken
by them in respect of this matter.
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Deutsche Bank AG - Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

51.

LITIGATION AND CLAIMS (Contd...)
Tax assessments against the Branch
Corporate income tax

Year of Assessment 2016/2017

Penalty notice -
Branch received a penalty notice dated on 13 June 2019 amount in Rs. 82,619,849 for non-payment of tax payment on
time. However branch filed an objection stating the payments were settled on time. The system of the Department of
Inland Revenue has updated the tax credits accordingly. Branch has submitted the letter to waive off the penalty imposed.

Tax in default notice

Branch received a tax in default dated on 10 September 2019 assessing tax of Rs. 49,865,198 and with the penalty of Rs.
82,619,849 for non-payment of tax payment on time. However branch filed an objection stating that the payments were
settled on time. The system of the Department of Inland Revenue has updated the tax credits accordingly. Branch has
submitted the letter to waive off the penalty imposed. Once the request is accepted the notice will be cancelled in the
system of the Department of Inland Revenue.

Year of assessment 2017/2018
Penalty notice

Branch received a penalty notice dated on 26 July 2019 amount in to Rs. 35,185,796 for the non payment of tax payments
on time. However, Branch filed an objection on 30 August 2019 stating that payments were settled on time. The
objection is with Commissioner General Inland revenue level and as at reporting date the objection was pending for

inquiry.

Year of assessment 2018/2019
Final Return

Branch received a notice of assessment dated on 26 May 2022 for tax credit issues. Branch submitted a valid appeal
stating that the total tax credits should be given in full. After adjusting the said tax credit the refund due to the bank for
the year of assessment 2018/2019 will increase to Rs. 248,808,436 which is in line with the Return of Income filed for
the year of assessment 2018/2019. The said appeal is with the Commissioner General of Inland Revenue level and as at
reporting date the same is pending for inquiry.

Value Added Tax
Period from 01 July 2019 to 31 September 2019
Penalty notice

Branch received a penalty notice dated on 30 December 2021 amount in to Rs. 1,003,416.68 . However, branch
submitted a letter stating that the total tax payable amount of Rs. 1,543,718.24 has been fully settled by the branch and
requested through the letter dated 25 January 2022 to cancel the said notice of assessment together with the entire penalty
imposed and update the system accordingly. The said letter is with the Commissioner General of Inland Revenue level
and as at reporting date the same is pending for inquiry.

Blam,h reu:wed a tiotice of assessment dated on 30 December 2021 for assessed tax amount in Rs. 1,543,718.24 and
ple-tfally SERs 10034 IG,GS Branch submitted a valid appeal stating the grounds precisely. The said appeal is with the
{-@np‘nmwﬁg‘ﬁwml of inljmd Revenue level and as at reporting date the same is pending for inquiry.
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Deutsche Bank AG - Colombo Branch

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

51. LITIGATION AND CLAIMS (Contd...)
Period from 01 July 2018 to 30 September 2018

Penalty notice

Branch received a penalty notice dated on 11 January 2022 amount in to Rs. 1,498,737.6 . However, branch submitted a
letter stating that the total tax payable amount of Rs. 1,665,263.74 has been fully settled by the branch and requested
through the letter dated 10 February 2022 to cancel-the said notice of assessment together with the entire penalty imposed

and update the system accordingly. The said letter is with the Commissioner General of Inland Revenue level and as at
reporting date the same is pending for inquiry.

Branch received a notice of assessment dated on 11 January 2022 for assessed tax amount in Rs. 1,665,263.74 and
penalty of Rs. Rs. 1,498,737.6. Branch submitted a valid appeal stating the grounds precisely. The said appeal is with the
Commissioner General of Inland Revenue level and as at reporting date the same is pending for inquiry.

Value Added Tax on Financial Services

Period from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2019

Branch received a penalty notice dated on 28 December 2022 amount in to Rs. 148,887.46 . However, branch submitted a
letter on 16 February 2023 stating that the total tax payable amount of Rs. 205,464,527.08 has been fully settled by the
branch and requested through the letter dated 7 February 2023 to cancel the said notice of assessment together with the
entire penalty imposed and update the system accordingly. The said letter is with the Commissioner General of Inland
Revenue level and as at reporting date the same is pending for inquiry.

Period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020

Branch received a notice of assessment dated on 20 December 2022 based on the VAT on FS return filed for the above
taxable period. As per the assessment the declared value and assessed value are same. Hence, the balance tax payable and
the penalty payable are NIL. However branch submitted to the DIR though letter dated 07 February 2023 to cancel the
said notice of assessment and update the system accordingly.

52. MANAGEMENT RESPONSIBILITY ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The management of the Branch is responsible for preparing and presenting these financial statements in accordance with

Sri Lanka Accounting Standard and comply with the requirements of the Banking Act No 30 of 1988 and amendments
thereto.
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